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INTRODUCTION 

The Demesa-Sanchez House, a two-story, L-shaped building, is constructed of dressed coquina masonry. The main west facade of 
building’s West Wing is set on the property line and abuts St. George Street. The two-story East Wing extends to the east from the 
property’s northeast corner towards the center of the block. The wood-shingled, side-gabled roof shelters the building’s West Wing, its 
ridge extends in a north-south direction. The roof has a double pitch to the west and intersects with the gable roof that shelters the building’s 
East Wing, set perpendicularly to St. George Street. The stucco, painted pink and ashlar-scored, covers the exterior of the coquina walls. 
The beaded-edge weatherboard siding clads the westernmost section of the East Wing’s second story. The paneled wood doors, flanked by 
transom and sidelights, are located at the center of the west façade’s first level and provides access to the interior from St. George Street. 
The paneled wood shutters flank single-hung sash twelve-over-eight pane windows on the east façade’s first level. The house is an example 
of the fusion of building traditions of Spanish Colonial and American Territorial periods. Archaeological investigation prior to the 1978-80 
restoration revealed the building’s development from a single room dwelling of the First Spanish Period, to a three-room house in the 
British period, to  a two-story structure by the Second Spanish Period, and to its current size. The current appearance of the building is the 
result of the 1978-80 restoration, performed under the supervision of architect Herschel Shepard. To save as much historic fabric as 
possible, the building was restored to its appearance in the American Territorial period. 

Figure 1 DeMesa-Sanchez House, S façade, looking NW. 
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Figure 2 National Landmark St. Augustine Town Plan Historic District. Insert: 
Location of the DeMesa-Sanchez House. 

1 “Town Plan Historic District. FMSF SJ05567.” 
2 Preservation Design Partnership, Llc., “City of St. Augustine, Florida. 
Preservation Plan.,” sec. 4, pg. 19. 

Location Map 

The DeMesa-Sanchez House is located in the central section of 
the National Historic Landmark St. Augustine Town Plan Historic 
District, designated in 1970 for the City’s Spanish and British 
Colonial-era heritage from 1565 to 1821 (Figure 1).1 The property 
is located within St. Augustine's Historic Preservation Zone Two 
(HP-3). The HP-3 Zone is intended to provide a mix of 
commercial and residential uses that will encourage the 
restoration of historic structures and maintain the historic and 
pedestrian scale of the neighborhood.2 The property on which the 
building stands is within Archaeological Zone Number I-A, which 
consists of an area containing historic resources from the 17th to 
the 20th centuries.3 

Administrative Data 

• Building Name: DeMesa-Sanchez House
• Building Address: 43 St. George Street, St. Augustine
• County: St. Johns
• State: Florida
• Section - Township – Range: 18-7-30
• Block 7 - Lot 6; Parcel ID 1964800000
• Acreage: 0.12
• Flood Risk (2020): Moderate. Zone “AE” BFE 7’

Ownership 

• Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund

3 Ibid., sec. 4, pg. 21. 
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CULTURAL RESOURCE DATA 

Current and Historic Names 

• St. John’s House; Canova House; Old Spanish Inn Museum, Old Spanish Inn Restaurant, Mrs. Margaret Butler Antiques, Fla Times
Union Office, Treasure Island Antiques, Mrs. Bertha H. Wiles Gifts; Old Spanish Inn Antiques; and Old Spanish Inn Museum. The
addresses for the property has changed several times: 41 St. George St., 43 St. George St., 43 ½ St. George St., 47 St. George St.

National Register Status: 

• The DeMesa-Sanchez House is one of the extant 36 Colonial Period structures, that contribute to the significance of the National
Historic Landmark St. Augustine Town Plan Historic District

Short Significance Description: 

• The DeMesa-Sanchez House contributes to the significance of NHL St. Augustine Town Plan Historic District. The NHL district is
located within the present-day City of St. Augustine, in St. Johns County, Florida, and encompasses the site of the oldest,
continuously inhabited settlement of people of European and African descent in the continental United States. The St. Augustine
Town Plan Historic District is nominated as a National Historic Landmark under Criteria 1, 4, and 6 under the NHL Thematic
Framework category of Peopling Places.

• The DeMesa-Sanchez House also contributes to the significance of the NRHP St. Augustine Historic District.

• The building sits above the De Mesa Archaeological Site (BL7 L6) that is a contributing element to the archaeological site Block 7
8SJ05655 that has national significance.

National Register Date: 

• NHL  - April 15, 1970; NRHP – July 1, 1970

Significance Level: National 

Historic Use: Residential and Commercial 

Present Use: Museum and Office Space 
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TIMELINE 

• Constructed: construction started ca. 1763

• Additions and alterations: c. 1791, c. 1857; 1959

• Archaeology: Early1977 investigation accomplished by Florida State University Field 
School, led by Dr. Kathleen Deagan and James R. Jones III. Excavations from late 1977 
until early 1978 were done by Historic St. Augustine Preservation Board (HSAPB), 
supervised by John Bostwick

• Restoration: 1977-1980, restoration project architect Herschel Shepard of Shepard 
Associates/Architects & Planners, Inc., documentary, archaeological, and architectural 
research performed by HSAPB interior restoration led by Robert Stewart, HSAPB

4



METHODOLOGY 

From 2002 to 2023, contributing to the Preservation Institute St. Augustine (PISA) mission, the University of Florida's Historic Preservation 
Program (UFHP) studied and documented the DeMesa-Sanchez House. The research team used various methods, including 3D laser 
scanning, digital analysis, CAD drawings, photographic survey, archival research, and field condition assessment. In the Fall of 2022, the 
graduate students and two instructors of the Built Heritage History and Materials Conservation (DCP 6711c) course visited the site and the 
UF Research Library at the St. Augustine Governor's House. The class of five Historic Preservation program students with multidisciplinary 
backgrounds, such as architecture, landscape, education, and interior design, accomplished initial archival research, and preliminary 
condition assessment report. At the  survey time, the building was used as a museum and an office  space by the building's tenants, the 
Colonial Quarter Foundation. The interior spaces, partially filled with furnishings, office appliances, and supplies, challenged the 
researchers when investigating the building and property. The researchers used terrestrial laser scanning to measure the structure accurately 
and complement the limited access through a 3D virtual experience, completed by Dr. Sujin Kim and Dr. Lisha Chen. The narrative 
description of the Joaneda House's evolution is based on previous research completed by numerous historians, archaeologists, and architects. 

Archival research 
• UF Digital Collections
• UF Library at Governor’s House, St. Augustine
• St. Augustine Historical Society

Document review: 
• Documents, created by the historic, archaeological, and architectural research performed by St. Augustine Historic Preservation

Board and stored within UF Digital Archives
• HABS 1933 photos
• HABS 1961 drawings
• Architectural drawings, created by Shepard & Associates,  Architects &Planners, Inc.
• FMSF 8SJ02285
• National Register of Historic Places,  St. Augustine Historic District nomination (1970- 2006)
• National Landmark St. Augustine Town Plan Historic District nomination (Draft 2), on file at St. Augustine Planning department)
• Property appraisal database, St. Johns County, Florida
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Field work: 

• November 1, November 3, and December 3, 2022
• June 2-3,  2023

Material condition assessment: 
• January 2023 – June 2023

Digital documentation: 
• December 2022 –June  2023

Research Team 

• Cleary Larkin, Ph.D., R.A.; Director, Historic Preservation
Program; Director, Preservation institutes Nantucket & St.
Augustine; Assistant Professor, Department of Urban and
Regional Planning, University of Florida

• Linda Stevenson, Ph.D., AIA, Adjunct Assistant Professor,
Historic Preservation Program

• Kristīne Ziediņa, Ph.D. Student, Historic Preservation Program
• Sujin Kim, Ph.D., Research Assistant Professor, Historic

Preservation Program
• Lisha Chen, Ph.D., Post-doctoral Fellow
• HP Cultural Resources Class Fall 2022:

Linda Lyons, Hisham Kafaji; Erica Melon; Caleb Arsenault;
David Kim
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Key Issues: 

• the stucco and paint coatings that are applied to protect historic coquina masonry are in poor condition in numerous places both on exterior
and interior
• the air conditioning system was installed during the 1970s and is not contributing to the preservation of historic fabric
• the electrical system was originally added to serve the needs of the building as a house museum that represented an early 19th century
household, contemporary additions and alterations made to the system for other uses (office and storage) are creating a danger to the historic
fabric
• current function of second story spaces, especially storage of flammable goods, does not contribute to the building's preservation
• plants that are located along the eastern section of the West Wing and southern section of the East Wing are contributing to the
deterioration of historic coquina masonry
• the wooden ticket booth that sits to the south of the West Wing’s South façade affects the integrity of the DeMesa-Sanchez house

Short-term priorities include: 

• Develop a set of building usage guidelines for tenants; including 
guidelines for types of materials that are stored in the building. 
Consider limiting flammable materials and weight for stored items 
on the Loft floor framing.

• Remove electrical cords that run to exterior on balcony and 
remove the electrical outlet mounted on board in Room 201 
southern-most window on west façade.

• Make repairs to wood elements of the building as needed, 
including shutters and window frames.

• Keep plantings trimmed and away from the building facades and 
roofs.

• Monitor and inspect roof condition, make necessary repairs as 
needed.

Long-term priorities include: 

• Develop and implement an overall maintenance plan, including 
a prioritized set of maintenance guidelines for the property.

• Develop a future use plan for the property taking into account 
that the building contributes to the national significance of the 
National Landmark St. Augustine Town Plan Historic District.

• Remove wooden ticket booth structure and provide appropriate 
garden fence/ wall enclosure that is compatible with the 
architecture and complies with the City of St Augustine’s 
Architectural Guidelines for Historic Preservation.

• Plan for roof replacement within the next 5 to 10 years with 
appropriate and compatible materials.

• Develop a landscape plan, with considerations for future site 
drainage and landscape materials.

• Develop a resiliency plan following guidance from the City of 
St Augustine’s Flood Mitigation Design Guidelines for Coquina 
Structures, 2021.
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ARCHAEOLOGICAL CONTEXT 

Archaeological sites, located within the Town Plan district, 
contain significant resources that explain the early stages of 
exploration, colonization, settlement, and integration of native 
American, European, African, mestizo, and criollo cultures within 
the Southeast area of the continental United States (Figure 1).1 

Figure 1 Map of archaeological sites, St. Augustine. 1980.

“Historical archaeology provides unique information on those 
aspects of culture for whom scarce or no documentary 
information exists,” stated Dr. Deagan.2 While many of the 
earliest European communities in the Caribbean area and on the 
Atlantic coast of the American continent were abandoned, the 
residents of St. Augustine endured natural catastrophes, attacks of 
European rivalries, and various political and economic changes. 
The research, completed by multidisciplinary studies of St. 
Augustine’s cultural heritage, opened issues of colonialism, 

1 “Historic Preservation Element Draft,” 21. 
2 Deagan, “From Español to Criollo.” 
3 Baram and Hughes, “Florida and Its Historical Archaeology,” 1. 

identity formation, domination, resistance, ethnogenesis, and 
gender. The cosmopolitanism coming from historical archaeology 
situates the region and its sites in a global perspective.3 

St. Augustine's long and continuous period of occupation provide 
and potentially yield rich material for historical, cultural, 
architectural, and archaeological studies contribute to comparative 
studies of with similar sites within Florida, the Southeast and 
Southwest United States, and the Caribbean region. The potential 
of further findings within the district's archaeological sites will fill 
still existing gaps in the historical record of urban space occupied 
during the colonial period, for which no comparable site exist 
within the continental 
United States. 

The property, on which 
the Joaneda House 
stands, is within the 
Archaeological Zone 
Number I-A that consist 
of an area containing 
historic resources from 
the 17th to the 20th 
centuries (Figure 2).4 

Figure 2 Archaeology Zones. 
https://www.citystaug.com 

4 Preservation Design Partnership, Llc., “City of St. Augustine, Florida. Preservation 
Plan.” 
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HISTORICAL CONTEXT 

First Spanish Period (1565-1763) 
Initial Settlement 

February 1565, King Philip II of Spain asked Pedro Menéndez de 
Avilés, an experienced captain-general of the Mexican convoy of 
Spanish fleets, to summarize what was known about Florida, 
assess the French threat to occupy the North American east coast, 
and suggest what could be done to prevent such a settlement.1 In 
reply, Menéndez repeated by then well-known news about French 
intent and the rumors that the English also intended to explore the 
coast of La Florida. According to Menéndez, the settlement in La 
Florida by any of Spain’s rivals presented numerous dangers; 
therefore, Philip II initiated an expedition to La Florida. On 
March 15, 1565, Menéndez de Avilés became adelantado and 
obliged, beginning on May 31, 1565, to explore the Atlantic coast 
of North America and select a site for his first settlement. 

During the next three years, he was obligated to ensure that five 
hundred settlers, including one hundred farmers and two hundred 
married men, would arrive in La Florida and to establish at least 
two towns, each adequately fortified to protect the residents 
against native and European attack.2 

On September 4, 1565, the Spanish fleet discovered a good harbor 
near the Native American village of Seloy. They named their 
settlement St. Augustine, but the fleet continued north to attack 
Fort Caroline, established by the French.3 When Menéndez 
reached Fort Caroline, two fleets engaged in a brief, long-distance 
skirmish with their cannon. Realizing that the fight for La Florida  

1 Hoffman, A New Andalucia, 224. 
2 Ibid., 228. 
3 Barnes, “St. Augustine Town Plan,” 89. 
4 Ibid. 

would have to wait, Menéndez and his fleet returned to St. 
Augustine.4 

Arriving back at St. Augustine on September 6, the Spanish 
started to convert the large house given to them by the local 
Native American tribe, the Timucua, into a fortification. 
Menéndez did not step onshore until September 8, when he held a 
celebration, including a Mass and a meal attended by Spaniards 
and Native Americans.5 

In 1566, settlers moved across the Matanzas Inlet to the east, onto 
Anastasia Island. No single clear source describes and dates the 
move from St. Augustine's location on Anastasia Island to the 
mainland where it is today. The archaeological and documentary 
evidence suggests that starting from 1572, European and African 
heritage settlers first occupied St. Augustine's Town Plan area.6 
Having moved back to the mainland, the Spanish constructed a 
wooden fort in the general location of the present Castillo de San 
Marcos. They also laid out and built a town some distance to the 
south of the fort. Further south of the town was a Franciscan 
monastery intended to support the outlaying missions of Spanish 
Florida. 

The Town Plan 

Since its beginnings, the town was planned according to the 
Spanish colonial urban planning tradition, characterized by a 
gridiron-type plan, square urban blocks, and buildings set on 
property lines. The English attacked and burned St. Augustine in 
1586, describing it as a "little town or village without 
(fortification) walls, built of wooden houses.7 The ca. 1589 

5 Ibid., 90. 
6 Lyon, “On the Edge of History: The Oldest City 1565-1600.” 
7 Manucy, The Houses of St. Augustine, 15. 
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engraving, S. Augustini: pars est terra Florida, sub latitudine 30 
grad, ora vero maritima humilior est, lancinata et insulosa, is a 
pictorial representation of the town by Baptista Boazio, an Italian 
cartographer who illustrated Sir Francis Drake’s 1585-86 
Caribbean voyage (or raid).8 The Boazio engraving, usually 
referred to as the Boazio Map, is not a strictly precise 
cartographic depiction (fig. 1) 

Figure 1 Boazio, Baptista. “Map and Views Illustrating Sir Francis Drake’s West 
Indian Voyage, 1585-6.” Image. London?, c 1589. Library of Congress Rare Book 
and Special Collections Division Washington, D.C. 20540-4650 USA. 
www.loc.gov/item/2007626708/. 

The Boazio bird’s view depiction of St. Augustine is the first 
known representation of any American city to the north of 

8 Boazio, “Map and Views Illustrating Sir Francis Drake’s West Indian Voyage, 
1585-6.” 
9 “Encounters in America.” 

Mexico.9 The street grid, the location of the Plaza, and the 
organization of the urban environment appear to have followed 
the 1573 Royal Ordinances, with some departures influenced by 
the environment and social structure of the residents. 

Seventeenth Century Town 

In 1570 the Spanish crown assumed financial responsibility for La 
Florida, changing the colony from an intended commercial 
enterprise to primarily a military defense post to protect Spain’s 
hold on the Atlantic coast.10 During the 16th and 17th centuries, St. 
Augustine grew slowly. Before the construction of the Castille de 
San Marcos and during its construction years (1672-1695), 
European settlement was apparently restricted to the area of the 
Plaza de la Constitución and further south approximately to St. 
Francis Street.11 During this period, settlement north of the Plaza 
seems to have been restricted to construction crews such as the 
Native American laborers conscripted by the colonial 
government. 12 

As the population slowly expanded, new residential lots were 
allocated north of the Plaza. The significant expansion of roads 
and the development of the residential lots resumed only during 
the last decades of the seventeenth century when extensive 
construction started to occur along St. George Street north of the 
Plaza. As the capital and northernmost stronghold in La Florida, 
St. Augustine was often threatened by conflicts among colonial 
empires and their legal and illegal representatives. On March 29, 
1668, English pirates led by Robert Searles, also known as John 
Davis, attacked St. Augustine. An influx of monetary funds, 
soldiers, artisans, free civilian residents, and enslaved people to 
St. Augustine began with the construction of the masonry Castillo 

10 Parker, “Historic Development of the Built Environement,” sec. 2, pg. 1. 
11 Halbirt, “New Evidence for St. Augustine’s 16th Century Cultural Landscape.” 
12 Bostwick and Wise, “A Sub-Surface Survey of the City of St. Augustine,” 9. 
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de San Marcos in 1672 in response to the privateer Robert 
Searle's attack (fig. 2). 13 

Figure 2 Aerial View from the Northwest, Showing Castillo and Its Relation to the 
Town -Castillo de San Marcos, 1 Castillo Drive, Saint Augustine, St. Johns County, 
FL. Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division Washington, D.C. 
www.loc.gov/item/fl0095/. 

The beginning of the construction of Castillo de San Marcos 
influenced the development of new urban lots along St. George 
Street. After the winter storms of 1678-88 and 1688-89 damaged 
many buildings in St. Augustine, Governor Quiroga began selling 
coquina stone to the townspeople. The well-to-do residents 
replaced their wooden and tabby houses with more permanent 
coquina buildings.14 After 1695, the Spanish rapidly constructed 
dwellings within the town’s northernmost area. A few of the more 

13 Arana, “The Basis of a Permanent Fortification.” 
14 Barnes, “St. Augustine Town Plan,” 10. 
15 Bond, “Tradition and Change.” 

affluent residents built two-story masonry houses. Started as 
single or two-room, one-story homes, they maintained a one-room 
depth but expanded to form "L" and "U" shapes around 
courtyards. Most appeared to incorporate a commercial as well as 
residential function.15 Archaeologists have demonstrated that the 
town's development continued to adhere to the Spanish colonial 
urban planning traditions as it grew to the north and south, and 
during the eighteenth century, reaching the size and configuration 
that correspond to the contemporary boundaries of the Town Plan 
district.16 

1702 The Attack 

In 1670, the British established Charles Towne in their Carolina 
colony (modern-day Charleston, South Carolina) and further 
challenged Spain's dominance in Southeast North America. 
Throughout the 1680s, numerous raids, often using Native 
American allies, were conducted by both sides on small outposts. 
Despite another Spanish attempt to attack Charleston in 1686, 
most of the fight for territory was occurring away from the major 
settlements. The death of Spanish King Charles II in 1700 meant 
that Philip V, who was born into the French Royal family, would 
succeed to the Spanish throne. This succession was a major threat 
to the English, as they feared the combination of French and 
Spanish power in Europe and the New World.17 

The War of the Spanish Succession (1701-1714), known in the 
North American theater as Queen Anne's War, had severe 
consequences for the Spanish La Florida. The British started to 
occupy territories southward from their Carolina colony into 
Spanish lands, and James Moore, the Governor of Carolina, led a 
major offensive against the Spanish in northeast Florida. British 
forces overran Spanish outposts north of St. Augustine and, on 

16 Halbirt, “La Cuidad de San Agustín: A European Fighting Presidio in Eighteenth-
Century La Florida.” 
17 Barnes, “St. Augustine Town Plan,” 96. 
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November 10, 1702, entered the town along the east bank of the 
San Sebastian River. During the fifty-one-day siege of St. 
Augustine, its residents left their houses and gathered behind the 
masonry walls of the Castillo de San Marcos. The Spanish 
purposefully destroyed buildings north of Cuna Street to establish 
a clear field of fire from the fort. Spanish reinforcements arrived 
from Cuba on December 30, 1702, finally driving Moore from the 
area. 18 When the Carolinians withdrew, they burned what else the 
Spanish had not already deliberately destroyed. An inventory 
made in 1708 of the houses destroyed during the 1702 attack lists 
32 houses burned by the Spanish to control the approaches to the 
Castillo and 123 structures burned by the English.19 The only 
surviving structures were approximately twenty houses and the 
Franciscan hermitage, Nuestra Senora de la Soledad, which 
served as St. Augustine's Parish church until the end of the First 
Spanish period.20 Four buildings in the northern area of St. 
Augustine retain walls constructed during the First Spanish 
Period: the Avero House/St. Photios Greek Orthodox National 
Shrine (1735-1743) at 41 St. George Street, the Arrivas House 
(1710-1740) at 52 St. George Street, Rodriquez-Avero -Sanchez 
House (1753-1762) at 52 St. George Street, and the DeMesa-
Sanchez House (ca. 1763) at 43 St. George Street. These 
remaining walls, and archaeological evidence found in numerous 
sites throughout the town, reveal the history of the development 
of the spatial configuration of the houses.21 

Eighteenth-Century Town 

Until the middle of the seventeenth century, the town's urban area 
was concentrated immediately around and to the south of the 

18 Hendryx, William, and Salo, “Phase I Cultural Resource Assessment,” 4. 
19 Arana, “Private Coquina Construction in St. Augustine, 1689-1702,” 30. 
20 Koch, “Mortuary Behavior Patterning and Physical Anthropology in Colonial St. 
Augustine.” 
21 Deagan, “1977 Excavations of the DeMesa-Sanchez House Interior”; Bostwick, 
“Further Excavations in the DeMesa Sanchez House, 1977-1978”; Deagan, Halbirt, 

Plaza, extending approximately to St. Francis Street.22 The first 
half of the eighteenth century in St. Augustine was an era of 
tremendous expansion. The population increased from 800 in 
1710 to over 3,000 in 1736. 23  

By 1737, the town's urban area grew to the present configuration 
of the Town Plan district's area. The 1737 Plano Ciudad de la San 
Augustine (Arredondo Map) is considered the first cartographic 
representation of the eighteenth-century town and its surrounding 
area (fig. 3).24 

Figure 3 “City Plan of St. Augustine.” 1737. Historic St. Augustine Preservation 
Board Map Collection. University of Florida Digital Collections. 
https://ufdc.ufl.edu/USACH00201/00002. 

and Parker Richbourg, “Excavations at the Tovar House”; Shepard, “Tovar House 
2016 Excavations.” 
22 Halbirt, “New Evidence for St. Augustine’s 16th Century Cultural Landscape.” 
23 Deagan, Archaeology at the National Greek Orthodox Shrine, 1975:6. 
24 Arredondo, “Plano Ciudad de La San Augustine.” 
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Figure 4 De la Puente, Juan Joseph Elixio. “Plano de La RL. Fuerza Baluartes y Linea de La Plaza de SN. Agustin de Florida.” January 22, 1764. https://ufdc.ufl.edu/USACH00236/00001.
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The map depicts the non-extant Cubo Line and Rosario Line, 
drafted by Spanish military engineer Antonio Arredondo Pirelli, 
who assessed the town's defenses.25 

In 1760, Father Juan Joseph Solana reported on the condition of 
St. Augustine, its residents, and the surrounding environment. 
Solana's report gives a detailed description of the town's built 
environment, including its location, building types, and 
construction methods: 

The city is laid out longitudinally and is 630 tuesas [a 
tuesa is approximately 3 varas or 3 meters], North-South. 
Its width is of 200 tuesas East to West, to the banks of the 
river. The number of houses that settle it are 303 of stone 
and flat roofs; 23 roofed of shingles or boards, of the same 
material 26; and among one and others, some of 2nd story. 
Those of one story covered with thatches are 190, and the 
rest of board or palm thatch.26 The Governor's house is of 
stone and covered with board..27 

The 1764 Plano de la RL. Fuerza Baluartes y Linea de la Plaza 
de SN. Agustin de Florida (Puente Map) depicts the slightly 
irregular urban blocks, delineated by the streets of various widths 
and only generally following a strict gridiron pattern (fig. 4). The 
1764 Puente Map, drawn by the Royal Spanish engineer Juan 
Elixio de la Puente, is the earliest measured property map of St. 
Augustine’s urban area and includes information about property 
ownership and construction materials for all buildings in St. 
Augustine at the end of the First Spanish period.28 While the 
Puente Map does not depict the precise scale of urban blocks by 

25 Llopis Verdú, Piquer-Cases, and Serra, “Plan de La Ciudad de San Agustín,” 190. 
26 Solana, “Juan Joseph Solana Report on the Condition of St. Augustine 1760,” 
564. 
27 Ibid., 26–568. 
28 Deagan, America’s Ancient City, xviii. 

contemporary standards, it is one of the most valuable documents 
that guide historians and archaeologists. 

1763 -1782 British Period 

In 1763, in exchange for Havana, Cuba, which had fallen to the 
British Navy in 1762, Spain ceded its holdings in Florida to Great 
Britain. The exchange was part of the Paris Peace Treaty's terms, 
which ended the Seven Years' War (more commonly known in 
the United States as the French and Indian War) and marked the 
beginning of twenty years of British rule in Florida. The transfer 
of power began on July 21, 1763, with the arrival to St. Augustine 
of four companies of the British First Regiment under the 
command of Captain John Hedges.29 Florida's first British 
Governor, James Grant, arrived in St. Augustine in 1764, 
commenting that "the town consisted of four streets crossing at 
right angles and walled in."30 Governor Grant initiated the 
upgrading of the existing military structures, the expansion of 
infrastructure, and the construction of civic buildings. During the 
American Revolution, the population of St. Augustine expanded 
with an influx of Loyalists forced to flee their homes in the 
colonies of Georgia and Carolina. In part, the town's population 
increased because, in 1777, the group of indentured servants from 
Greece, Italy, and Minorca fled the New Smyrna plantation, 
settled in the north section of the town, and became an integral 
part of the community.31 The British government responded to the 
need for housing these people by constructing numerous 
prefabricated, wooden, one-and-one-half-story dwellings.32 

29 Ibid., 101. 
30 Ibid., 102. 
31 Archaeological Consultants, Inc., “Cultural Resource Assessment Survey. 
Colonial Quarter, St. Augustine, St. Johns County, Florida,” 3–4. 
32 Barnes, “St. Augustine Town Plan,” 13. 
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Figure 5 Jeffreys, Thomas. “Plan of Town of St. Augustine, the Capital of East Florida.” London, Great Britain: William Faden, 1777. https://ufdc.ufl.edu/UF90000096/00001.
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The 1777 Plan of the town of St. Augustine, the capital of East 
Florida, made by Thomas Jeffreys, depicts St. Augustine's town 
plan during the early British period, enclosed by Spanish 
defensive walls (fig.  5).33 

Some of the more affluent British residents acquired pre-1763 
coquina masonry houses. They expanded them with masonry or 
wooden second floors, a gable roof with wooden shingles, glass 
windows, and chimneys. However, the British retained the 
privacy walls and garden gates that led to the properties. The 
change of the entrance to the building's interior from the street 
instead of the courtyard also developed during the British period. 
The existing British building traditions, and new public-private 
functions of the buildings, required a change in the entrance 
placement. During the British period, chimneys were added. The 
widespread availability of glass during the British period resulted 
in replacing the Spanish rejas with multi-pane windows flanked 
by exterior shutters. Open two-story porches and balconies for 
more substantial, two-story houses continued to be constructed 
well after the colonial period. Several buildings, including the 
Llambias and González-Alvarez houses on St. Francis Street and 
the DeMesa-Sanchez House on St. George Street, display this 
fusion of Spanish and British building traditions.34 

1784 – 1821 Second Spanish Period 

In 1783, the British returned Florida to the Spanish Crown. While 
several Floridian families returned to St. Augustine, British, 
Greek, and other nationalities outnumbered Spanish-speaking 
residents. While the community significantly changed over the 
British period, the town's built environment retained its Spanish 
character. The street grid was not changed, the government and 
public buildings surrounded the Plaza, and residents' houses 

33 Jeffreys, “Plan of Town of St. Augustine, the Capital of East Florida.” 
34 Barnes, “St. Augustine Town Plan,” 12. 
35 Ibid., 106. 

abutted the street lines. With the departure of the British, the 
town's population decreased and, consequently, created an excess 
of housing. As a result, many houses stood vacant and therefore 
deteriorated. When Governor Manuel de Zéspedes assumed 
control of St. Augustine from British Governor Patrick Tonyn on 
June 27, 1784, he found the town in disrepair. Like nearly all of 
the public buildings in St. Augustine, many of the private 
residences were in a deteriorated state at the end of the British 
period. Almost one hundred coquina houses still stood in St. 
Augustine when the Spanish returned; however, historical records 
estimated that nearly 40% (110 of 277) of the total residencies 
were deemed uninhabitable.35 Most were the holdings of agent 
Jesse Fish. Fish had remained in St. Augustine after 1763 and was 
charged with selling Spanish properties to prospective incoming 
British buyers. However, most of the houses remained unsold, and 
after Fish's death in February 1790, the deeds were transferred to 
the Spanish Crown. Over the next few years, the government 
auctioned these houses and lots, which led to a "rash of legal suits 
by the old owners or their children and grandchildren to regain the 
old homesteads."36 The renovation and construction of new 
residential buildings significantly resumed after 1791, when the 
Spanish started to sell properties that previously had an entangled 
ownership history related to the change of imperial powers in 
Florida and the unresolved interests of various previous owners.37 

U.S. Territorial Period and Reconstruction (1821-1877) 

In 1821, Florida became an American Territory. An influx of new 
settlers arrived in the territory, including St. Augustine. Some 
Spanish citizens, particularly the Minorcans, remained in East 
Florida.38 Real estate speculation fueled a boom during the early 

36 Ibid. 
37 Adams et al., “Historic Sites and Buildings Survey of St. Augustine, Florida.” 
38 Oppermann, “The Ximenez-Fatio House. St. Augustine, Florida,” 18. 
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years of the territorial period.39 Despite the expectations of many, 
the economic boon of the early territorial period was short-lived. 
An inadequate transportation system was a significant obstacle to 
the development of St. Augustine and the surrounding area.40 
While the Second Seminole War (1835-1842) produced 
temporary economic prosperity, St. Augustine entered a period of 
economic decline during the 1840s.41 The American Civil War 
did little to improve economic conditions, and by 1865 the city 
was physically dilapidated and economically deteriorated (fig. 
6).42 Following the war, inadequate transportation facilities still 
kept St. Augustine isolated. 43 Despite its isolation, St. Augustine 
began developing one crucial aspect of its economy during the 
territorial period. Invalids seeking refuge from harsh northern 
winters arrived annually.44 

Figure 6  St. Augustine, ca. 1861 https://www.floridamemory.com 

39 Connally, “St. Augustine Historic District. FMSF SJ00010,” 31. 
40 Ibid., 37. 
41 Ibid. 
42 Ibid. 
43 Ibid. 

The early American Period in St. Augustine, from 1821 until the 
Civil War, saw continuity and architectural change. Most of the 
colonial Spanish-British defensive structures were considered 
obsolete. The Cubo Line and the remaining elements of the 
Rosario Line were allowed to deteriorate. In the early years, 
vernacular residential buildings were similar to late colonial 
buildings in materials, size, lot placement, and construction 
techniques. This was a period when the decorative treatment of 
ashlar-scored stucco on coquina buildings became a popular 
design feature.45 

Tourism and the Flagler Era (1887 -1920) 

The transportation problems of St. Augustine and other isolated 
regions of northeast Florida diminished during the early 1870s  
when railroad construction began.46 In 1870, the St. Johns 
Railroad completed a line from Tocoi to St. Augustine, and the 
railroad line from Jacksonville reached the city in 1883. 47 The 
northern visitors, who earlier traveled by steamship from 
Charleston or Savannah, gained easier access to the town, 
frequently referenced as ‘Ancient City.’ The construction of 
railroads marked a new period in the history of St. Augustine, 
resulting in revitalization, growth of the economy, and the influx 
of new residents. Part of Hypolita Street and both sides of St. 
George Street became lined with shops, boarding houses, and 
large hotels. The areas off St. George Street remained essentially 
residential. St. George Street underwent major changes in the late 
nineteenth and early twentieth centuries with the construction of 
the City Hall at the corner of Hypolita Street, the demolition of 
colonial structures, and the erection of commercial brick 
buildings. 

44 Ibid. 
45 Davenport and Weaver, “St. Augustine Inventory. St. Johns County, Florida,” sec. 
5, pg. 15. 
46 Connally, “St. Augustine Historic District. FMSF SJ00010,” 33. 
47 Ibid. 
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Railroad construction was the key event in the city's development 
during the late nineteenth century, and Henry M. Flagler was the 
key individual. 48 Flagler visited St. Augustine in 1885 and soon 
after transformed the small town into a winter resort for wealthy 
northerners.49 St. Augustine later became known for Flagler's 
hotels constructed in the 1880s, including the Ponce de Leone, 
Casa Monica, and Alcazar. However, hotels and boardinghouses 
served St. Augustine's visitors decades earlier. The Florida House 
Hotel opened in 1832; the Planter's Hotel at the Corner of 
Charlotte and Treasury streets was used as a guest house by about 

48 Ibid. 
49 Ibid. 
50 Oppermann, “The Ximenez-Fatio House. St. Augustine, Florida,” 20. 
51 Ibid., 21. 
52 Ibid., 22. 

1848.50 Isaac W. Crufts, in 1885 opened San Marco Hotel, a 600-
room hotel on the land next to the Castillo (fig. 7). H. Flagler and 
his second wife, Ida Alice Shrouds, spent their honeymoon in this 
hotel.51 Flagler not only built hotels, but he also bought railroads 
and extended the tracks southward.52  

The Flagler era in St. Augustine had run its course by the first 
years of the twentieth century.  During the 1890s, H. Flagler was 
increasingly focused on his railroad and hotel developments in the 
southern part of the state.53 Nevertheless, St. Augustine continued 
attracting tourists. By the turn of the twentieth century, the 
population soared as visitors bought a property and settled, some 
for the winter and some permanently.54 Despite many fears, the 
local tourist industry prospered during World War I, as people 
who had earlier traveled overseas instead came to Florida and 
visited St. Augustine.55 

Land Boom And World War II (1920-1945) 

In the middle of the 1920s, St. Augustine joined the rest of Florida 
in an unprecedented land boom.56 The new subdivisions were 
created, and the sales were strong, but there was little 
construction. After the collapse of the land boom in 1926, these 
subdivisions would mostly lay dormant until the post-World War 
II population’s demand for home sites.57 

53 Connally, “St. Augustine Historic District. FMSF SJ00010,” 33. 
54 Oppermann, “The Ximenez-Fatio House. St. Augustine, Florida,” 23. 
55 Connally, “St. Augustine Historic District. FMSF SJ00010,” 33. 
56 Parker, “Historic Development of the Built Environement,” sec. 2, pg. 10. 
57 Ibid. 

Figure 7  Hotel San Marco, 1891. https://www.floridamemory.com 
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ARCHITECTURAL CONTEXT 
The primary source of the description of the colonial period 
built environment within the Town Plan area is the 2006 St. 
Augustine Town Plan Historic District Additional 
Documentation Study completed by Dr. Mark R. Barnes. The 
2006 Study is used throughout the following section and is 
therefore not footnoted.1 

St. Augustine Plan 

Historians, architectural historians, and archaeologists have 
analyzed various cultural processes that influenced St. 
Augustine's built environment, such as nature, European 
vernacular buildings, architectural styles, and emerging Spanish-
American material culture. One of the most significant research 
projects on colonial-period buildings was the historical and 
architectural research of A. Manucy, whose work on the Spanish 
colonial masonry dwellings of St. Augustine defined the stylistic 
term "St. Augustine Plan." Manucy, who traced his family history 
back to the colonial days of St. Augustine, had for several years 
been the historian and restoration researcher for the National Park 
Service at the Castillo de San Marcos and was therefore familiar 
with the historical records, history, and architecture of St. 
Augustine. In the late 1950s, Manucy received a Fulbright 
Research Scholarship to study historic Spanish architecture on the 
Iberian peninsula and compare it with contemporary colonial 
buildings in St. Augustine, Florida. With this background, in 
1962, he published the seminal work on the residential 
architecture of colonial St. Augustine, The Houses of St. 
Augustine, 1565-1821. 

Considering the long colonial history of St. Augustine, the 
coquina masonry "St. Augustine Plan" buildings were the logical 
outcome of an extended Spanish tradition of private dwelling 
construction that was transferred to the New World but modified 
to adapt to the environmental conditions of Florida. Manucy, from 

1 Barnes, “St. Augustine Town Plan.” 

his research on Iberian farmhouses, found various similarities. 
According to Manucy, utilitarian, south-facing Iberian loggia-like 
areas, used to house the farm cart and shelter access to tool and 
supply storerooms, were similar to the loggias typical to "St. 
Augustine Plan" houses. In addition, Manucy analyzed the 
similarities and differences between the balconies, that in Spain 
were used for drying grain or clothes and called solanas or sun 
galleries, and balconies of St. Augustine’s houses: “the structural 
members of the balcony became shorter and heavier than the 
Spanish prototypes, perhaps because lumber was more plentiful, 
and the depth of the balcony increased from a narrow three or four 
feet to a comfortable five or six.” Manucy admitted that Iberian 
folk building traditions were significantly influenced by Florida's 
local materials and construction methods. When British settlers 
from northern colonies arrived in St. Augustine, they added 
elements to the distinct vernacular architecture already developed 
through the Spanish and British Caribbean colonies. 

Jay D. Edwards, a professor of anthropology at Louisiana State 
University and researcher of historic vernacular architecture in the 
West Indies, noted that it is difficult to attribute the various 
external factors that influenced the design of Caribbean 
vernacular architecture. According to Edwards, it is possible that 
enslaved people of African descent, who constructed many of the 
earliest dwellings, contributed to the development of the building 
type, which was characterized by open porches, loggias, and 
wrap-around galleries. The constriction methods of African and 
European folk housing were similar in several fundamental ways. 
For example, two- or three-room rectangular houses with mud 
walls and thatched roofs could have been found as easily in early 
rural England as in much of West Africa. The galleries, porches, 
and loggias were functional and characteristic components of 
Spanish and English vernacular architecture throughout the West 
Indies. The hip roof form is common to English and colonial 
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buildings beginning in the seventeenth century, and many purely 
British islands, such as Barbados and Antigua, and the mansions 
of the Virginia tidewater, abound in hip roof structures.2 Edwards 
defined the colonial period building traditions: 

It is a complex patchwork of partially shared, partially 
unique architectural themes. The timing of the 
development of these themes is often quite separate 
from the timing of the rise and fall of the parental 
European and American traditions. In the Caribbean, 
architectural innovation and borrowing are often an 
artifact of local island history: economic boom periods, 
settlement, conquest, and trade relations.3 

Throughout the 250 years of Spanish occupation and the brief 
interlude of British ownership, the vernacular, Spanish-inspired 
houses changed from wooden dwellings to tabby, and, finally, to 
masonry structures. However, the basic First Spanish period 
architectural floor plan of covered porches and galleries on the 
rear or loggias on the side was retained because it suited the needs 
of residents and the Florida climate.4 The “St. Augustine Plan,” 
developed by St. Augustine’s residents, and defined by A. 
Manucy, represents a convergence of many cultural aspects, such 
as European and African vernacular building traditions 
disseminated through the Caribbean region, the 1573 Spanish 
Ordinances that regulated the layout of streets and dimensions of 
individual house lots, and distinctive building types that 
developed throughout the Spanish and British colonies (fig. 1). 

2 Edwards, “The First Comparative Studies in Caribbean Architecture,” 197. 
3 Ibid., 177. 

Figure 1 St. Augustine Plan.
Image source: A. Manucy, The Houses of St. Augustine, 1962. 

4 Barnes, “St. Augustine Town Plan,” 121. 

20



Coquina Buildings and Structures 

The most distinctive building material used in St. Augustine is 
a native stone called coquina (fig. 2). 

Figure 2 Exterior wall of the Rodriquez Avero Sanchez House, 52 St. George Street. 
Photo: Sarah Rayan. 

As early as 1580, Governor Pedro Menéndez Marqués reported 
the discovery of shell stone, or coquina, deposits on Anastasia 
Island to the east of the town. In his letter to the Crown, he noted: 
"… I went to an Indian town four leagues from this [St. 
Augustine] … I found an abundance of stone near the sea… I will 

1 Manucy, The Houses of St. Augustine, 17. 
2 Arana, “Private Coquina Construction in St. Augustine, 1689-1702,” 25. 
3 Manucy, The Houses of St. Augustine, 17. 

endeavor to have some of it brought here…”1 In 1593 a 
representative of the governor of Florida in Madrid petitioned  

to finance the construction of a stone fort.2 Despite the 
availability of financial resources, the work was delayed because 
of the absence of a skilled workforce in St. Augustine. Governor 
Gonzalo Méndez Canzo y Donlebún arrived in Florida in 1596, 
evaluated local unstable geological conditions, and concluded that 
masonry construction for fortifications was impractical because: 
“in digging one cubit (about 18 inches) beneath the surface one 
finds sand and water.”3 However, in 1598, Governor de Canzo 
ordered the construction of a stone structure inside the fort to 
secure the powder and munitions. In 1604, still lacking 
stonecutters, engineers, and sufficient funds, Governor Pedro de 
Ibarra found a compromise and used the stone to construct a wall 
to enclose the fort's courtyard and possibly the powder magazine. 
In 1612 Governor Juan Fernandez de Olivera expressed regret 
that coquina had not been used to construct the fort and remarked 
how easily that could have been done. The use of coquina for 
private construction was considered as early as 1655 when 
Governor Diego de Robello suggested that the town could be 
improved if the local stone would be used to construct the fort, 
other public buildings, and private dwellings.4 

Archaeological evidence suggests that St. Augustine's residents 
started using coquina to construct wells in the first decades of 
the seventeenth century.5 A well, constructed of coquina blocks 
fastened by mortar, was revealed when archaeologists 
excavated the Cofradia site BL30 L3 at 230 Charlotte Street. 
The well on the Cofradia Site required a large amount of 
coquina and the work of skilled stonemasons. The discovery of 
this well and its probable early date of construction (ca. 1614) 

4 Arana, “Private Coquina Construction in St. Augustine, 1689-1702,” 25. 
5 Palting, “Excavation of the Cofradia Site: First Spanish Coquina Well in St. 
Augustine,” 61. 
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changed the long-standing estimate that stone was not used 
before the military construction.6 
The sacking of the town by the English pirate Robert Searle in 
1668 and the establishment of the British colony of Carolina in 
1670 advanced the change in the building material for St. 
Augustine's private residences. To protect Spanish Florida from 
future pirate attacks and threats from British colonies to the north, 
the Spanish Crown authorized funds and technical personnel to 
open the coquina quarry on Anastasia Island in 1671.7 The 
infrastructure that allowed material production and transportation 
to the construction site was established. The cornerstone was laid 
in 1672 for the construction of Castillo de San Marcos, a masonry 
fort completed in 1695.8 

The storms in the winter of 1678-88 and 1688-89 damaged many 
buildings in St. Augustine. On December 5, 1689, Governor 
Quiroga ordered master carpenters in St. Augustine to inspect 
three residences – the Governor's House and two residences of 
Royal Treasury officials. As a result of the inspection, Juan 
Antonio de Illescas, Diego Tejeda, Alnos Garcia de lam Vera, 
Diego de Rivera, and Juan de Soto recommended reconstruction 
of the building using stone for the foundations and the first story, 

6 Ibid., 64. 
7 Barnes, “The Eighteenth-Century Gonzalez-Alvarez (Oldest) House,” 248. 
8 Manucy, The Houses of St. Augustine, 20. 

wood for the second story, and wood shingles for the roof, since 
tiles were unavailable in the city.9 After assessing the coquina 
quarries, and with the recommendation of master stonecutter John 
Collins, Governor Quiroga allowed the sale of coquina rubble and 
hewn stone to St. Augustine's residents.10 Most probably, the 
reconstruction of the official residence preceded any private house 
construction. After the 1702 destruction of the town, coquina was 
used in various forms and for multiple purposes.  

During the British and Second Spanish periods, numerous 
coquina masonry military structures and domestic buildings were 
constructed. Coquina houses were built at least until 1869, when 
George Burt started construction of a new store.11 In the 1880s 
and 1890s, coquina was used as gravel in poured concrete 
construction. In the early twentieth century, coquina was used for 
locally produced concrete blocks. Another widespread use was a 
shell dash finish to stucco exteriors. Coquina is used primarily for 
architectural details, road beds, and sidewalks. The original 
Spanish Coquina Quarry, located within the boundaries of 
Anastasia State Park, was listed on the NRHP on February 1972 
(Reference # 72001462). 

9 Arana, “Private Coquina Construction in St. Augustine, 1689-1702,” 27. 
10 Ibid., 28. 
11 “News.” 
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ST. AUGUSTINE’S PRESERVATION 
MOVEMENT 
The significant new developments of the 1880s and their need for 
land influenced the visual appearance of the old town.1 When in 
1821, the United States acquired Florida, the colonial presidio 
contained some 300 buildings, the most abundant physical legacy 
of Spain's presence on the North American continent. About 
ninety percent of these buildings have been lost. They were either 
demolished by natural forces such as insects, rainfall, humidity, 
and fire, but most were wrecked for the development of 
commercial and residential properties.2 The loss of colonial 
architecture contributed to greater recognition  

1 Oppermann, “The Ximenez-Fatio House. St. Augustine, Florida,” 25. 
2 Preservation Design Partnership, LLC., “City of St. Augustine, Florida. 
Preservation Plan.,” 4.1. 
3 Oppermann, “The Ximenez-Fatio House. St. Augustine, Florida,” 25. 

of their value, and local resistance to Flagler's development had 
deepened by the 1890s, sparking a renewed interest in preserving 
the remaining colonial-era properties in the City.3 In 1907, a local 
women's group prevented the demolition of the  coquina City 
Gates (fig 1). 

In 1918, the St. Augustine Historical Society, founded in 1883, 
acquired and interpreted the Gonzalez-Alvarez (Oldest) House on 
St. Francis Street.4 

Inspired by Colonial Williamsburg, the City's government made 
its first attempt at historic preservation with the assistance of the 
Carnegie Institute of Washington, D.C.5 In 1936 and 1937, the 
Work of Progress Administration (WPA) conducted surveys of 
the City's historic buildings. During the 1930s, the Carnegie 
committee surveyed the resources of St. Augustine, including 
extant structures, and collected documentary and archaeological 
information. In 1938, the Carnegie Institute and the St. Augustine 
Historical Society purchased the Llambias House; they deeded it 
to the City of St. Augustine. In 1939 the Florida Colonial Dames 
purchased the Ximenez-Fatio property. The City received a gift in 
the trust of the Pena-Peck House.6 Although the scarcity of funds 
and local workforce during World War II delayed much of the 
preservation work during the 1940s and 1950s, the groundwork 
was set for much of the restoration and archaeology conducted in 
St. Augustine.7 

4 Ibid. 
5 Parker, “Historic Development of the Built Environement,” sec. 2, pg. 11. 
6 Oppermann, “The Ximenez-Fatio House. St. Augustine, Florida,” 34. 
7 Ibid., 35. 

Figure 1 Anonymous. City Gate Looking South on St. George Street. ca 1890. 
University of Florida Digital Collections. 
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Preservation efforts expanded in the mid-20th century. Until the 
late 1950s, preservation projects in St. Augustine, except for the 
National Park Service, were undertaken by private persons or 
groups.8 In 1959  the State of Florida established the St. 
Augustine Historical Restoration and Preservation Commission 

(later renamed St. Augustine Historic Preservation Board). The 
400th anniversary of St. Augustine’s founding in 1965 also 

8 Parker, “Historic Development of the Built Environement,” sec. 2, pg. 13. 
9 Ibid., sec. 2, pg. 12. 
10 Barnes, “St. Augustine Town Plan,” 116. 
11 Parker, “Historic Development of the Built Environement,” sec. 2, pg. 14. 
12 Oppermann, “The Ximenez-Fatio House. St. Augustine, Florida,” 27. 

renewed interest in historic preservation among residents and 
business owners.9 The restorations and reconstructions 
undertaken in the 1960s and 1970s were part of a significant 
effort to provide St. Augustine visitors with an accurate 
interpretation of the town's history. These works resulted in 
numerous reconstructed buildings that returned the Colonial 
Period’s visual appearance to the area along St. George Street 
(fig. 2).10 The City Gate and then the north section of St. George 
Street were closed to automobile traffic as part of the restoration 
program.11 

Until 1997 there were over forty colonial-era buildings restored 
and reconstructed in the northern section of the colonial area of 
St. Augustine adjacent to the Castillo.12 Professional historians 
and archaeologists produced a rich and abundant body of 
scholarship. During the 1970s, archaeologists Hale Smith, Charles 
Fairbanks, John Griffin, Kathleen Deagan, and Robert Steinbach, 
and historians Albert Manucy, Luis Arana, Eugene Lyon, Paul 
Hoffman, Michael Gannon, Michael Scardaville, Thomas 
Graham, and Amy Bushnell established a base of knowledge that 
supports current research and preservation efforts.13 

In 1998, the City adopted the Historic Preservation Element of the 
St. Augustine Comprehensive Plan, followed by the City's 
designation as a Certified Local Government, one of the first such 
efforts in Florida.14 At the time of its preparation, there was a 
strong emphasis on preserving the Town Plan's earliest buildings 
and ensuring that new construction was compatible with the 
colonial context.15

13 Preservation Design Partnership, Llc., “City of St. Augustine, Florida. 
Preservation Plan.” 
14 “City of St. Augustine Historic Preservation Master Plan,” sec. pg. 2. 
15 Ibid. 

Figure 2 Anonymous. St. George Street, Looking South. 1971. 
https://ufdc.ufl.edu/USACH00138/00008/citation. 
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DEMESA SITE - ARCHAEOLOGY 

The DeMesa-Sanchez House is located within the archaeological 
site 8SJ05655 (also Block 7) and stands on the archaeological 
site BL7 6-12 (also documented as SA-7-6 and Spanish Inn site). 
In 1977-1978, the Historic St. Augustine Preservation Board 
undertook archaeological excavations at the DeMesa site; the 
project aimed to determine the construction sequence of the 
existing structure. Within the DeMesa-Sanchez property, 
archaeologists were able to document the location of the First 
Spanish Period structure that was incorporated when various 
owners enlarged the building.1 The excavations also revealed pre-
1760s cultural activity on the site adjacent to the building, 
including five individual burials that occurred on the site before 
the late 1740s.2 

The excavations of the De Mesa Sanchez site took place from 
March through September of 1977 under a grant from the 
National Park Service. The Florida State University Field School 
did the work under the direction of Kathleen Deagan in 
conjunction with the HSAPB. Field supervision was done by 
James R. Jones III.3 The excavations included the colonial back 
lot area; the courtyard of the area and nine trenches were 
excavated inside the DeMesa-Sanchez house to establish the 
sequence of the construction of foundations, floors, and other 
building structures found beneath the present rooms and to  

1 Bond, “Tradition and Change,” 242. 
2 Smith, “De Mesa Site, Revisited,” 5. 
3 Deagan, “1977 Excavations of the DeMesa-Sanchez House Interior,” 5. 

determine the evolution of the house and its different 
occupations through time (fig. 1). 

Figure 1 DeMesa-Sanchez House, tabby and coquina floor location. 
https://ufdc.ufl.edu 

The excavation inside the De Mesa House revealed at least four 
stages of construction and evolution of the building. Analysis of 
the recovered archaeological materials dated the tabby floors to 
ca. 1760, ca. 1800, and ca. 1813. The development of the 
structure from its original one-room footprint to its current two-
story, L-shape was traced.4 Subsequent work to answer 
architectural questions from the 1977 season was carried out 
inside the structure from October 1977 to April 1978. John 
Bostwick supervised these excavations.5 

4 “Site 8-SA 7-6: De MesaSt. Augustine Collections.” 
5 Deagan, “1977 Excavations of the DeMesa-Sanchez House Interior,” 5. 
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CHRONOLOGICAL DEVELOPMENT 

Ownership History 

The DeMesa-Sanchez property changed hands frequently. Since 
its construction in the late 18th century, the building has been used 
as a residence, boarding house, hotel, music store, antique shop, 
and museum. Florida Master Site File SJ02520 describes the 
ownership in detail and provides researchers with a list of sources 
that reflect the owners' biographies (see Appendices).1 However, 
there were several owners who contributed to the development of 
the building more than others. 

First Spanish Period (1565 – 1763) 

The first recorded owner of the house at 43 St. George Street was 
Antonio de Mesa, a native of Vera Cruz, Mexico, who came to St. 
Augustine in the 1740s. De Mesa served as a customs official. In 
1746 he married Geronima Santollo, who was born in St. 
Augustine. The family owned an enslaved person. His home was 
just one room, with a rear loggia, patio, and separate kitchen. 
When in 1763 Spanish rule gave way to the British, de Mesa and 
his family evacuated to Havana, where he died two years later. 2 

British Period (1763 – 1783) 

With the British arrival, New York merchant William Walton 
acquired the de Mesa property and owned it until he died in 1768. 
Walton's export company had contracted to supply St. Augustine 
from 1726-1739 and 1754-1763.3 After Walton died in 1768, the 
property reverted to the British crown. In 1771, East Florida's  

1 Nolan, “DeMesa FMSF SJ02520.” 
2 Ibid. 
3 “Site 8-SA 7-6: De MesaSt. Augustine Collections.” 

Governor James Grant granted the property to Joseph Stout, a 
former Philadelphian who had arrived in Florida in 1767. Stout 
enlarged the building towards the south, using it as a townhouse 
and office. 4 In 1783 Stout’s wife noted: “We have been at a great 
expense for repairing and raising a new roof to the house in 
town.” 5 The building was roofed with shingles. It was possibly 
rented, particularly after the influx of immigrants in the late 
British period. 

Second Spanish Period (1783 – 1821) 

When Florida was returned to Spanish rule in 1783, Stout 
departed for the Bahamas and sold the house to Juan Sanchez, the 
Chief Master Caulker of the Royal Works.6 Sanchez significantly 
enlarged the structure, adding a second story above the West 
Wing, a two-story East Wing, and a separate kitchen. 
Enlargement of the structure possibly related to Sanchez's 
mercantile activities in the late 1780's – shipping goods between 
Havana, St. Augustine, and Charleston. Sanchez used the building 
for storage of supplies and merchandise. Between 1793-94, the 
Royal Treasury and Treasurer's quarters were located on the 
second floor. After Sanchez died in 1803, his family inherited the 
property. 

4 Nolan, “DeMesa FMSF SJ02520.” 
5 Ibid. 
6 Ibid. 
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U.S. Territorial Period and Reconstruction (1821-1845) 

Among the Spanish emigrants, who left Florida after 1821, were 
the widow and daughters of Juan Sanchez. Retaining ownership 
of the DeMesa-Sanchez house for eleven years after their 
departure, the Sanchez family sold the building for $1,000 to 
Lewis G. Melizet, a merchant who resided in Havana.7 

In 1835 James Lisk purchased the house and incorporated a 
freestanding kitchen into the main building. He also added a 
balcony overlooking St. George Street and painted the house a 
brilliant pink color with ashlar scoring.8 The ground floors of the 
building were generally used as ‘store rooms (with) the families 
living in the upper story.9 Lisk’s heirs sold it in 1837 to Seth 
Gifford of Camden, S.C.10 

Late 19th Century through mid- 20th Century 

Numerous owners held the property until 1912, when it was 
acquired by Margaret (Mullaney) Buttler, who held the property 
for nearly 37 years, rented furnished rooms, and operated an 
antique store. To accommodate these various functions, Mrs. 
Buttler requested to complete some significant changes in the 
property, including removing the balcony and adding two large 
arched openings at the west façade. In 1963 Gerald Horton Bath, 
who remodeled the building to look like a Spanish Inn of the 
Spanish and British colonial periods in 1959, purchased the 
property.11 In 1965 the St. Augustine Restoration Foundation, Inc. 
acquired the property.12 Known as the Old Spanish Inn until its 
restoration, the DeMesa-Sanchez House became a part of the 

7 Ibid. 
8 Woodcock, “Report: The DeMesa-Sanchez House,” 3. 
9 Nolan, “DeMesa FMSF SJ02520.” 
10 Ibid. 
11 Ibid. 
12 Shepard, “Field Inspection November 21, 1978.” 

Spanish Quarter, a “living history” museum demonstrating 
everyday life in Spanish St. Augustine.13 

1977 Historic St. Augustine Preservation Board of Trustees 

In 1977 the Historic St. Augustine Preservation Board (HSAPB) 
purchased the building and launched a major restoration project.14 
HSAPB, Florida’s first major historic preservation agency, was 
created in 1959. In 1997 the HSAPB was dissolved. Local 
preservation activities, including property management, 
maintenance of buildings and grounds, including the DeMesa-
Sanchez House, became the responsibility of the City of St. 
Augustine.15 

2007 - University of Florida 

In 2007 the University of Florida assumed management 
responsibilities for state-owned historic properties in St. 
Augustine. The goal of this action was "to ensure long-term 
preservation and interpretation of state-owned historic properties 
in St. Augustine while facilitating an educational program at the 
University of Florida that will be responsive to the state's needs 
for professionals in historic preservation, archaeology, cultural 
resource management, cultural tourism, and museum 
administration and will help meet needs of St. Augustine and the 
state through educational internships and practicum."16 

13 PBD, City of St. Augustine, Florida, “Architectural Guidelines,” 16. 
14 Nolan, “DeMesa FMSF SJ02520.” 
15 PBD, City of St. Augustine, Florida, “Architectural Guidelines,” 16. 
16 Ibid., 17. 
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First Spanish Period (1565 -1763) 

If not mentioned otherwise, the description of DeMesa-Sanchez House's 
development is based on the 1994 Report The DeMesa -Sanchez House, St. 

Augustine, Florida, prepared by Julie Anne Woodcock and published on 
January 17, 1994.17 

Pre-DeMesa Stage 

The archaeological investigations conducted in 1977 and 1978  
revealed pre-1760s cultural activity on the site adjacent to the 
DeMesa-Sanchez building (fig. 1). While very little cultural 
activity occurred on the site before Antonio de Mesa arrived in 
the late 1740s, the possible evidence for such a stage is a hard-
packed clay floor, a short section of oyster shell wall, and five 
individual burials.18 These were Christian Native American 
burials encountered in the back lot area and inside the structure 
and analyzed at Florida State University.19 Based on stratigraphic 
placement (beneath the earliest house level) and historical 
documentation, these individuals are considered Native people 
associated with Castillo de San Marco's construction activity 
during the 1670s. 20 Therefore, the site may have functioned as a 
historic burial ground before its occupation by Spanish 
inhabitants.21 

17 Woodcock, “Report: The DeMesa-Sanchez House.” 
18Smith, “De Mesa Site, Revisited,” 4. 
19 Deagan, “1977 Excavations of the DeMesa-Sanchez House Interior,” 16. 

Figure 1 Excavations during an archaeological field school at the De Mesa 
Sanchez House, 1977. https://original-ufdc.uflib.ufl.edu 

20 Ibid. 
21 Ibid. 
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The Original Construction c. 1760 

The precise original construction date of the the DeMesa Sanchez 
House is unknown. However, it is almost certain that it does not 
date before 1702 since the entire city was burned during the 
Carolinian siege on the town. The 1764 de la Puente map (fig. 2) 
depicts a small, rectangular dwelling on the western end of the 
property, abutted to the current St. George Street. The map 
describes the building as a "stone house." 

Figure 2 De la Puente, Juan Joseph Elixio. “Plano de La RL. Fuerza Baluartes y 
Linea de La Plaza de SN. Agustin de Florida,” fragment. January 22, 1764. 
https://ufdc.ufl.edu/USACH00236/00001. 

During the 1977 excavations, archaeologists uncovered three 
integrated architectural elements: a small, 16.7 by 26.5 ft. single-

22 Smith, “DeMesa Site, Revisited,” 6. 

room house constructed of coquina; a larger, partially enclosed 
central courtyard; and a small, detached rear kitchen (fig. 3). 

Figure 3 Archaeological findings. https://ufdc.ufl.edu/AA00013093/00001/citation. 

Archaeologists confirmed that the extant west wall of the 
DeMesa-Sanchez House's West Wing is sitting on the location of 
the original west wall. No interior dividing walls are believed to 
have been present at this earliest stage. The remnants of a well pit 
and a posthole in the courtyard suggested the possibility of a rear 
loggia sheltered by a shed roof.22 No wooden construction 
materials were identified during archaeological investigations.23 

Beyond the evidence relating to the earliest stage of construction 
on the site, Deagan and Bostwick also uncovered a larger 
structure to the south of the one-room house. The house's owner, 
Lucas Escovedo, constructed a two-room tabby house measuring 

23 Deagan, “1977 Excavations of the DeMesa-Sanchez House Interior.” 
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33 ft in length with its gable end fronting St. George Street.24 The 
building's foundations were later incorporated into the enlarged 
DeMesa-Sanchez structure. 

The British Period (1763 – 1783) 

In 1763, when the British took over St. Augustine, the DeMesa-
Sanchez House underwent several changes. James Stout, one of 
the three different owners of the house during the British Period, 
contributed the most to the development of the property. Stout 
enlarged the initial one-room structure and created a central hall 
house with two flanking rooms. This expansion added another 
room and partition through the interior, providing a six-foot wide 
entry into the house directly from the street.25 The chimney base 
was added to the east wall of the building, in the location of the 
present doorway between rooms 103 and 106 26 The house was 
roofed with shingles, and it had tabby floors. The expansion to the 
south suggests that Stout demolished the Escavedo tabby house to 
enlarge his house.27 The kitchen stayed in about the same location 
as its ca. 1760 predecessor; however, only its north wall remained 
constructed of coquina. The west and south walls were torn down 
and replaced by a wood frame construction. The east wall of the 
freestanding kitchen was not defined during the excavations.28 

24 Smith, “DeMesa Site, Revisited,” 7. 
25 Ibid., 9. 
26 Ibid. 
27 Shepard Associates, Architects, and Planners, "DeMesa-Sanchez House. 
Design Development Presentation." 

Second Spanish Period (1783 – 1821) 

In 1784, Florida was returned to Spanish rule, and Stout sold 
his St. Augustine house for one-third of its appraised value and 
departed for the Bahamas. The buyer was Juan Sanchez, born 
in Puerto Real, Andalusia, Spain. Architectural and historical 
documentary evidence indicate that Sanchez remodeled the 
building in two stages. Sanchez removed the interior north wall 
of the West Wing's North Room (Room 103) and created an 
asymmetrical floor plan. Between 1784 and 1788, he probably 
added a one-story east wing (rooms 106 and 108) and a 
separate kitchen (Room 110). The south walls of rooms 106 
and 108 had window openings. This addition created an L-
shaped floor plan and returned the house to a more Spanish-
type architectural appearance.29 

It is believed that by 1784 Sanchez constructed part of the second 
story above the West Wing (Room 202). The 1788 Rocque map 
depicts a three-room stone house with an outbuilding, a kitchen to 
the east, and a loggia to the south (Fig. X). Sanchez finished the 
second story over the West Wing around 1791 (Room 201). 
Between 1788 and 1791, he added a second floor to the East 
Wing. The second floor above the East Wing was one room with 
an inverted ‘tea-tray’ ceiling with whitewashed planks; it was 
constructed sometime before 1803 (rooms 206 and 208). 

Sanchez also converted the open area along the East Wing’s south 
façade into a covered loggia (present-day Rooms 105 and 107) 
with coquina masonry arches supporting a probable shed roof.30 

28 Smith, “DeMesa Site, Revisited,” 10. 
29 Ibid., 12. 
30 Ibid. 
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The present interior stair (in room 105) was constructed at this 
time, except the lower flight did not turn south as at present but 
continued to the east. The stair blocked the window in Room 
106.31  Sanchez finally constructed an L-shaped balcony east of 
the West Wing and south of the East Wing. 32 The building’s roof 
was covered with shingles. The tabby floor was laid throughout 
the building and loggia.33 By 1803, while not all architectural 
elements were connected yet, the DeMesa-Sanchez House's floor 
plan developed toward the outline that it displays today.34 

The loggia of the previous Sanchez era was enclosed with coquina 
blocks laid between existing piers at some time before 1815.35 By 
the early 1820s, the kitchen remained unchanged from its late 
18th-century plan. 36 The exterior chimney was added to West 
Wing’s south wall by the early 1820s.37 

American Territorial Period 1835 – 1837 

The separate kitchen was joined to the house's main body before 
James Lisk’s 1835 acquisition of the property.38 The kitchen 
gained a large interior hearth and chimney at its east wall, a loggia 
along its southern façade, and probably, the wooden floor.39 
Within the house's West Wing, the coquina partition (the former 
south wall of deMesa’s house) was removed, and two wood frame 
partitions were added.40 The architectural evidence suggests that 
Lisk was an owner who was required to apply ashlar-scored, pink 
stucco over the exterior facades. 

31 Shepard, “Research Report, 1977.” 
32 Shepard & Associates, “Design Development Presentation.” 
33 Smith, “DeMesa Site, Revisited,” 12. 
34 Ibid. 
35 Ibid., 14. 
36 Ibid. 

It is possible that between 1835 and 1837, Lisk enclosed the first-
floor loggia (rooms 105 and 107) by filling in between the 
masonry pillars with masonry walls, windows, and a door south of 
room 107.41 The deteriorated balcony flooring and floor joists 
above rooms 105 and 107 were removed and replaced. The 
masonry wall supporting the south end of this balcony was altered 
to support a one-story sloping roof above a new enclosed space, 
Room 104. The north end of Room 104 was left open into the new 
stair hall, Room 105. The lower flight of the Sanchez stair was 
altered to its present configuration as required by the partition 
separating Rooms 105 and 107. 

On the second floor, the south edge of the balcony to the south of 
the East Wing was enclosed by the construction of a wood 
partition with horizontal exterior siding exposed to view to the 
interior and whitewashed. This partition enclosed Room 204, the 
present stair hall.42 

37 Ibid. 
38 Ibid., 16. 
39 Ibid. 
40 Ibid. 
41 Parker, “Report on History of the DeMesa-Sanchez House.” 
42 Shepard & Associates, “Design Development Presentation.” 
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Florida Statehood - 1874 - 1888 

Before 1888 the west wall of the separate kitchen (Room 110) 
was removed, as the second floor was constructed above the 
kitchen (Room 210), and the kitchen was incorporated into the 
East Wing. A second floor (non-extant Room 205) was added to 
Room 104, enclosed by wood framing on the east and south. The 
south walls of Rooms 107 and 205 were probably repaired and 
slightly altered at this time.43 

Figure 4 Historic image of De Mesa Sanchez House (on the right with a balcony) 
looking north St. George street, ca. 1890. https://ufdc.ufl.edu/USACH00138/00052 

43 Ibid. 

Late 19th Century 

Early photographs show DeMesa-Sanchez House’s appearance in 
1880s (fig 4). Photographs taken in the 1890's record specific 
changes in the St. George Street façade. During the 1890s, a wood 
and glass commercial storefront was installed on the West Wing’s 
main façade. The storefront included a central entrance door 
flanked by sidelights. Wooden scissors braces were added below 
the balcony by this time (fig. 5).44 

Figure 5 Historic image of De Mesa Sanchez House (on the left with a balcony) 
looking south down St. George street, ca. 1890. 
https://ufdc.ufl.edu/USACH00421/00003/citation 

44 Shepard, “Research Report, 1977.” 
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Early 20th Century 

By 1899 a two-story, one-room addition had been made to the 
east of the kitchen, and a one-room, one-story addition was 
located to the east of the first addition.. Later photographs taken 
between ca. 1900 and 1938 indicate that  two large masonry 
arches flanking the central door and sidelights were installed on 
West Wing’s west façade.45 The balcony, threatened by traffic, 
was removed, though its overhanging roof remained, supported by 
cross braces to the wall (fig. 6). A masonry gate had replaced the 
wooden gate to the courtyard. By this time, the second-floor 
window on the south wall of the West Wing had been added. One 
of the photographs indicates that the scored ashlar stucco is still 
visible on the north wall of the West Wing. 

Figure 6 Spanish Inn, ca. 1937. https://www.loc.gov/item/2017886069/ 

45 Ibid. 

Courtyard photographs suggest that by this time, the crude stucco 
arches at the south balcony and the concrete stair leading from the 
balcony to the ground at the east end of the building were 
installed (fig. 7). 

Figure 7 Spanish Inn, 43 George Street, St. Augustine, St. Johns County, Florida 
Johnston, Frances Benjamin, 1864-1952, photographer  [1936 or 1937]. 

https://www.loc.gov/item/2017886070/ 
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Old Spanish Inn - 1954-1977 

In 1954 the house was converted into a tourist attraction called the 
"Old Spanish Inn." To give it a look of antiquity, the owner 
stripped the stucco from the coquina walls. By 1954, the arched 
storefront opening on the west façade first floor was removed, and 
windows and doors were installed in a new coquina masonry wall 
(fig. 8). 

Figure 8 West Wing, west façade, prior to restoration of the balcony, looking 
Northeast, ca. 1958. https://original-ufdc.uflib.ufl.edu/USACH00551/00080/1x 

46 “Site 8-SA 7-6: De MesaSt. Augustine Collections.” 

In 1959 Gerald Horton Bath remodeled the building to appear as a 
Spanish Inn that might have appeared during the Spanish period 
of the town (fig. 9). 46 Several windows and doors were replaced 
during the remodeling, but most eighteenth- and nineteenth-
century fabric was left intact. The balcony was reconstructed 
along the length of the west facade. However, because vehicular 
traffic was still allowed on St. Augustine streets, it was only half 
as wide as it had originally been. The 1960s images show the 
sidewalk along the St. George Street balcony, which is narrower 
than the existing one. A shed roof extended over the balcony and 
above the street. 47 

Figure 9 Image Source: Historic American Buildings Survey. De Mesa-Sanchez 
House, 43 Saint George Street, Saint Augustine, St. Johns County, FL. Library 
of Congress Prints and Photographs Division Washington, D.C. Accessed July 
25, 2021. http://www.loc.gov/resource/hhh.fl0203.photos/?sp=4. 

47 Shepard, “Research Report, 1977.” 
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1961 HABS Drawings and description 

In 1961 Historic American Building Survey program 
documented the DeMesa -Sanchez House (fig. 10, fig. 11).48 

Figure 10 DeMesa Sanchez House, ground floor plan, 
1961. https://www.loc.gov/item/fl0203/ 

48 Historic American Buildings Survey, “De Mesa-Sanchez House, 43 Saint 
George Street, Saint Augustine, St. Johns County, FL.” 

Figure 11 DeMesa Sanchez House, courtyard, after 
1955 https://www.loc.gov/item/fl0203/ 
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Structural Condition before 1979-80 Restoration and 
Recommendations 

According to the restoration architects, the DeMesa-Sanchez 
building in 1977 was in fair structural condition. However, 
architects described specific areas of concern as follows: 

• The south wall of the West Wing required tying to the east
and west walls by means of straps or other mechanical
devices.49

• Second-floor joists of the north interior rooms of the East
Wing are severely deteriorated at the north wall. The
existing joists must be supplemented with scabs or must
be replaced entirely. Similar joists above the kitchen and
in the north room of the West Wing must be carefully
examined for deterioration when finishes are removed. 50

• Wood pieces built into the masonry at the north wall and
supporting roof framing are almost completely
deteriorated and must be replaced.51

• Slow deterioration is evident at exterior coquina masonry
exposed to view.52 All exterior coquina should be
stuccoed to prevent further damage. It should be noted
that a stucco or lime plaster finish was continuously in
place from the earliest construction until the 1950s.

• There was evidence of a "rising dump" in exterior walls.
Restoration must address this problem.53

49 Shepard, “Research Report, 1977.” 
50 Ibid. 
51 Ibid. 
52 Ibid. 

Other areas of specific concern in 1977 were utilities such as 
electricity and plumbing to provide facilities for staff and 
maintenance, as well as air conditioning that would improve the 
preservation of buildings and artifacts.54 

For the full report and visual documentation, see H. Shepard’s  
photo documentation that depicts the building's condition before 
restoration, available at the UF Digital Collections, Herschel 
Shepard Files for St. Augustine (fig. 9), and Research Report: 
Restoration of the DeMesa-Sanchez House: for the St. Augustine 
Preservation Board, December 13, 1977 by Fisher & Shepard, 
Architects & Planners, Inc.55 

53 Ibid. 
54 Ibid. 
55 Ibid. 
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1977 – 1997 Restoration 

In 1977 Historic St. Augustine Preservation Board purchased the 
property, and the research that led to the restoration of the 
DeMesa -Sanchez House started. After years of architectural, 
archaeological, and historical research, the house was restored to 
its ca. 1837 American Territorial period configuration and 
appearance. This allowed the building to retain much of its 
original and historic fabric and avoided extensive demolition and 
removal of portions of the structure. The architectural drawings 
were first presented in 1977, 56 then developed during late 1978 
1979, 57 and 1980.58 

1979 DeMesa-Sanchez House Restoration Manual 

To restore the building's ca. 1837 appearance, there was a need to 
close some door and window openings. Instead of natural 
coquina, Shepard suggested infilling with concrete masonry units 
or brick. 59 As there were many damaged coquina areas, it was 
suggested to repair the stone and fill all holes and cracks with 
mortar. 60 

The 1979 DeMesa-Sanchez House restoration manual specified 
all materials used for the building's restoration. For the entire  

56 Shepard, “DeMesa-Sanchez House: First & Second Floor Plans (2 
Pages).” 
57 Shepard & Associates, “Sections & Details.” 
58 Shepard & Associates, “Door Details.” 
59 Shepard & Associates, “Project Manual, 1979,” sec. 4A, pg. 2. 
60 Ibid. 
61 Ibid. 
62 Ibid. 

document, see DeMesa-Sanchez House – Project Manual, 
Revised April 20, 1979, available at the UF digital Collections.61 

To restore the building's ca. 1837 appearance, there was a need to 
close some door and window openings. Instead of natural 
coquina, Shepard suggested infilling with concrete masonry units 
or brick. 62 As there were many damaged coquina areas, it was 
suggested to repair the stone and fill all holes and cracks with 
mortar. 63 

Most 20th-century finishes were removed from all coquina 
surfaces during the reconstruction. A new layer of stucco has been 
applied to all exterior walls, except the East Wing’s second 
level’s westernmost section, during the 1980 restoration.64 The 
new stucco was specified as follows: for the base coat - 1 part 
Portland Cement, 1 part lime, and 6 parts sand, 3/8 " thick coat. 65  
In his specifications, Shepard emphasized that the masonry primer 
needs to be tinted to match the final color. 66 For the finish coat, 
the architect recommended using 1 part Portland cement, 2 parts 
lime, 9 parts sand, 3/8 " thick coat. 67 Application of stucco was 
described as follows: “Metal lath on a solid backing, 1-inch 
minimum on an open stud or framing construction, 1 ¼ inch 
minimum,” 68 and “install on self-furring metal lath at an interior 

63 Ibid. 
64 Shepard Associates, Architects and Planners, “DeMesa-Sanchez House - 
Exterior Elevations; West Elevation (St. George St.); South Elevation.” 
65 Shepard & Associates, “Project Manual, 1979,” sec. 9A, pg. 5. 
66 Ibid., sec. 9B, pg. 4. 
67 Ibid., sec. 9A, pg. 5. 
68 Ibid., sec. 9A, pg. 2. 
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surface of exterior walls, and on masonry walls and gypsum lath 
elsewhere.”69 

Exterior Millwork 

For the DeMesa-Sanchez House’s restoration, H. Shepard 
developed schematic design for the typical doors: six-panel door 
with quirked ovolo, fillet and flat panel both sides; four- panel 
door with square and flat panel on both sides; and common ledged 
door, primary face and cleated face.70 

For the exterior millwork, Shepard suggested choosing between 
three options. Suppliers of the nominal 1x8 inch size beaded 
boards were allowed to choose between clear all-heart K.D. 
California Redwood, Western Red Cedar, or Heart Pine.71 

For the shutters, the options were between Northern White Pine, 
Idaho White Pine,  or Cypress. Construct with water-proof glue as 
detailed. 72 

Shakes 

During the 1980 restoration the metal roofing was replaced with 
class “B” wood shingles.73 

Size and type of shakes were specified as follows: no. 1, Koppers, 
red cedar, 24", sawn. The application was requested as follows: 
“Lay in horizontal courses, straight butt lines, 7 ½” to weather.74 
The note specified the application of shakes on the roof over the 
loggia: "Install shingles over stripping to match original so as to 

69 Ibid., sec. 9A, pg. 4. 
70 Shepard & Associates, “Door Details.” 
71 Shepard & Associates, “Project Manual, 1979,” sec. 6B, pg. 2. 
72 Ibid. 

be seen from below. Plywood sheeting and Class B roof shall be 
installed above these shingles.” 75 

Tabby Floor 

The concrete floor that resembled tabby was installed in Room 
110 and on the ground level of the Loggia. R. Steinbach 
remembered:  

The floors of the bulk of the masonry houses had 
something called tabby floors. Basically, what it 
amounted was crushed coquina and lime. And then they 
tamped it, and would float it. Well, when we got trying to 
replicate this, lime is very, very soft, and just would not 
stand up to any traffic at all. So we hit upon a method 
where instead of using just lime, we use a mixture of 
crushed coquina. Mostly we used coquina shell, and lime, 
and cement. We'd pour the floors and float them off, and 
then we took a terrazzo grinder, which- you've seen 
cement finishers with the big blades of them? Okay, this 
was just like that except it had rocks, grinding rocks, 
which is the way you finish terrazzo floors. So we poured 
them, and then as soon as they got hard enough, you don't 
want to get them too hard ‘cause then it gets too hard to 
grind, we get in there with a hose and a grinder, and we 
grind them, down till we start exposing the shell 
aggregate.76 

73 Shepard & Associates, “Sections & Details.” 
74 Shepard & Associates, “Project Manual, 1979,” sec. 7A, pg. 2. 
75 Ibid. 
76 Robert Steinbach, 34. 
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1992 Rehabilitation 

In 1992, the City of St. Augustine issued the permit to re-paint the 
facades of the DeMesa-Sanchez House. The paint was specified 
as: 

• St. Augustine Pink – body

• St. Augustine White – scoring

• Clay Red [Moore 1204] – trim.77

2005 – 2008 Rehabilitation 

In February 2008, the DeMesa-Sanchez house was opened to the 
public after three years of extensive renovations.78 There were no 
significant changes made to the building's exterior or interior. 
Significant work was done to update the exhibition and 
interpretation of the building's history. 

77 “Building Renovation Permit 92 0725 001.” 78 Nolan, “DeMesa FMSF SJ02520.” 
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PREVIOUS STUDIES 

Paint Studies 

We recovered a lot of the stucco archaeologically. And 
there was some left, in situ, on the back of the building. 
This generated a little bit of controversy in the town. It 

was pink. Pink.1 

Robert Steinbach 

Architectural and photographic evidence indicates the building 
was stuccoed in a red, simulated ashlar pattern ca. 1874 and later. 
However, the building may have been refinished in white by 1890 
and was probably finished in white during earlier periods.2 Frank 
Welsh, an historic paint color specialist, performed an on-site 

study of DeMesa-Sanchez 
House, tracing the authentic 
paint color history.3 Welsh's 
task was to collect paint chip 
samples from various parts of 
the two-story structure to 
analyze and evaluate the 
materials of the different inside 
and outside surfaces (fig.1).4 
In the minutes of the 
November 29, 1979, HSAPB 
meeting, Robert Steinbach 
said: "The evidence is 
incontrovertible that the 

1 Robert Steinbach, 26. 
2 “DeMesa-Sanchez House - Research Report December 13, 1977 (50 
Pages).” 
3 Heffernan, “When the Chips Are Down, Call...,” 12-B. 
4 Ibid. 

building was "yellowish-pink" with ashlar scoring."5 

Figure 2 Stucco on East Façade of DeMesa-Sanchez House, 1979. 
https://ufdc.ufl.edu/USACH00421/00020/citation 

At the September 10, 1980, meeting, Dr. Gannon displayed a 
color chip based on research conducted by Welsh, and the board 
voted to paint the house based on the investigation (fig. 2).6 At 
the board meeting, H. Shepard admitted: “I am sure that it's the 
ashlar finish that will create much more uneasiness to the public 
and to the 

5 Parker, “Memorandum: Controversial Exterior Color of Mesa-Sanchez 
House.” 
6 Parker, “Memorandum: Controversial Exterior Color of Mesa-Sanchez 
House.” 

Figure 1  Frank Welsh, ca. 1977. Image 
Source: St. Augustine Historical Society 
archive. 
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people here in St. Augustine than any other single thing that we 
are talking about."7 Later, Shepard remembered: 

Now, the interesting thing about it is though, 
because it was in the American Territorial period, 
it had been painted pink. That was definitely 
proper by paint analysis. So it was painted pink, 
and there were some local people who were 
extraordinarily bent out of shape by that. So they 
threw some paint on the walls and forced it to be 
repainted. The board backed off a little. They did 
repaint it pink, but not quite so bright. I hope that 
in the future, the right color will be placed back on 
it again, but it was an interesting lesson. You 
know, people really are concerned about their 
communities in this particular area and so you 
have to hang in there and do what you think is 
right, but you may get some opposition from 
unexpected quarters occasionally.8 

The use of the dark brown paint color on the balcony and trim of 
the building was documented based on evidence from the mid-
19th century. R. Steinbach admitted that the actual color of the 
balcony in the 1830s is unknown "as there was no balcony 
remaining on the house from which to take paint samples."9 A 
reddish-brown color was selected because it was used on the 
exterior trim of the house in the early 19th century. According to 
newspaper advertisements of ca. 1830, the red and brown 
pigments were sold in St. Augustine.10 

7 “Draft Meeting: The Sanchez-DeMesa Project.” 
8 Herschel Shepard 2011 Interview, 40. 
9 Steinbach, “Memorandum: New Paint Color on DeMesa-Sanchez House.” 
10 Ibid. 

1996 Evaluation 

The 1996 evaluation described the DeMesa House as follows: 

The large L-shaped, two-story coquina masonry structure with 
masonry gable ends. A part of the building dates to about 1764. It 
was restored to its ca. 1830 appearance by the Historic St. 
Augustine Preservation Board in 1978-80 with federal and state 
grant funds. The house has wood floors throughout, except for 
concrete tabby in the smaller east addition. The walls and ceilings 
are plastered. A wooden balcony overhangs St. George Street. 
The roof is covered with wood shingles. The structure contains 
architectural elements from the First Spanish, British, Second 
Spanish, and American Territorial Periods. There are separate 
HVAC systems for both floors and one toilet on the second floor. 
The electric service is adequate for current use.11 The condition of 
DeMesa Sanchez House in 1996 was accessed as good, with some 
minor roof leakage and other general  maintenance needs to 
woodwork.12

ADA compliance status: The first floor was accessible; the 
second was not. In 1996 it was assessed that ADA accessibility to 
the second floor would compromise the historic integrity of the 
building.13 

11 “An Analysis of the Management of Historical Resources in the City of 
St. Augustine: A Report to the St. Augustine City Commission.” 
12 Ibid. 
13 Ibid. 
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2021 Coquina Condition Assessment 

In the Fall of 2020, the UF HP Program research team and 
representatives of Sarah Ryan Architects, Inc. performed research 
on the condition of the DeMesa-Sanchez House to prepare the 
2021 publication "Flood Mitigation Design Guidance for Historic 
Coquina Buildings." Researchers emphasized that while DeMesa-
Sanchez House experienced minor flooding effects in pre-2021 
storm events, heavy localized rain poses a periodic concern. The 
building is air-conditioned, but not enough to cause vapor drive or 
condensation problems. 14 However, the air conditioning's unique 
underfloor distribution system provides a potential pathway for 
water infiltration. The site is not walled and is open to adjacent 
properties. Of the three ground-floor door openings, the one on 
the West Wing's west façade has the highest threshold height, 
with the others are almost at grade level. The first floor suffers 
from rising dump issues in areas with minimal roof overhangs, 
and the floor of the kitchen addition is at grade level.15 

Researchers acknowledged that the DeMesa-Sanchez House 
should be protected against future water damage. They suggest 
the protection by temporary measures, including removable 
pressure-fit floodgates at the three doorways. Installing a sump 
and pump to remove water infiltrating the air condition system 
would be helpful if the underground floor distribution system is 
inundated in future flooding events.16

14 Sarah Ryan Architects, “Flood Mitigation Design Guidance for Historic 
Coquina Buildings.” 

15 Ibid. 
16 Ibid. 

DeMesa- Sanchez House, Room 104, east wall, looking SE, 2020. Photo: 
Sarah Ryan
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

The DeMesa-Sanchez House, which was constructed beginning in 
1763 and continued over several centuries, is an important 
cultural resource due to its architectural significance (National 
Register Criterion C), strong association with the City of St. 
Augustine's preservation movement (Criterion A), and for its 
association with architect Herschel Shepard who contributed to 
the restoration of numerous buildings, including the Joaneda 
House (Criterion B). The property is also significant because of 
the potential to yield information (Criterion D). The De Mesa -
Sanchez House survived through the major periods in the City's 
history and provides physical evidence related to the history of the 
oldest continuously occupied European settlement in the United 
States. Visually representing the American Territorial Period 
(1821 – 1837), the De Mesa-Sanchez House incorporates 
architectural features that represent the First Spanish (1565 - 
1763), British (1763 - 1784), and Second Spanish (1784 - 1821) 
periods. The building is an integral part of the collection of 
colonial structures in St. Augustine. Because the property is 
located within the boundaries of the St. Augustine Town Plan 
National Historic District, it embodies the national level of 
significance. The period of significance of the property extends 
over the period of its construction (ca. 1763 until ca. 1837) and 
includes the period when the house was restored, 1977-1980. 

The DeMesa-Sanchez House represents some of the character-
defining features of several historical periods. The First Spanish 
Period architecture of St. Augustine is represented by the 
building's placement at the property line. The symmetrical main 
façade is evidence of the British Period. The second story, added 
during the Second Spanish Period, is evidence of the growth of 
the City. The ashlar-scored stucco that covers the building's  

1 Herschel Shepard 2011 Interview, 37. 

facades is one of the character-defining features of the American 
Territorial Period. 

Restoration of the De-Mesa-Sanchez House was led by Herschel 
Shepard, an architect who is known for his historically accurate 
restoration projects. At the time, when “there were not too many 
architects doing preservation work,”1 Shepard completed several 
restoration projects in St. Augustine, including work for St. 
Augustine Preservation Board. The resorted De Mesa-Sanchez 
House was a successful effort to save as much as possible of the 
physical fabric that represents the Colonial period and American 
Territorial period. The evolution of the house is a textbook 
example of how an early building's physical growth parallels the 
history of the US's oldest continental City.2 

Abutting the St. George Street's eastern line in the central section 
of St. Augustine,  the DeMesa-Sanchez House retains its integrity. 
It is a continuous visual connection to the City's colonial and 
Territorial past. It is a significant resource that tells the story of 
the layered historical context of St. Augustine. At the same time, 
restored by the Historic St. Augustine Preservation Board under 
the supervision of Herschel Shepard, the DeMesa-Sanchez House 
reflects the City of St. Augustine's and its residents' continuous 
efforts to preserve layers of tangible and intangible history. The  
DeMesa-Sanchez House contributes to the significance of the 
National Landmark St. Augustine Town Plan Historic District and 
the City of St. Augustine National Register Historic District. 

2 Smith, “De-Mesa Sanchez House. DeMesa Site, Revisited 1981.” 
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PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION 

The current appearance of the DeMesa-Sanchez House results from an adaptive restoration that followed archaeological, architectural, and 
historical research conducted in 1977 and 1978. The restoration architect Herschel Shepard of Shepard & Associates, Architects & Planners 
Inc., and project supervisor Robert Steinbach of Historic St. Augustine Preservation Board returned the DeMesa-Sanchez House to its 
American Territorial Period appearance. The restoration was completed in 1980. Currently, the De Mesa-Sanchez House is a museum 
within the Colonial Quarter. Its first floor is open to visitors and explains the development of the structure over the centuries. However, 
there is no interpretation of the property's yard. 

Photo: East Wing, south facade, looking NE
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SITE PLAN 

The DeMesa-Sanchez House occupies the northwest section of the site, which is approximately 46 feet wide on the street side and 
110 feet deep toward the east.

Figure 1 Location of the property at 43 St. george Street. Image source: https://qpublic.schneidercorp.com
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Similar to the surrounding context, where the facades of the buildings 
create an effect of continuous street wall, the DeMesa-Sanchez 
House’s two-story West Wing is set on the property line and abuts St. 
George Street (A). An auxiliary wooden structure, sits slightly back 
from the west property line along St. George Street, south of the 
building's West Wing (B). The structure serves as the ticket booth 
and provides access to the courtyard. The two-story East Wing 
extends along the property's north side towards the east. The loggia, 
characteristic of the ‘St. Augustine Plan’ houses extends along the 
East Wing's south façade (C). The southern portion of the site is a 
landscaped garden (D). 

B: Auxiliary structure, looking NE C: East Wing, S  facade  looking E D: East Wing, E facade  looking W

A: West Wing, W facade  looking NE
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MASONRY WALLS 

The exterior structural system of the De Mesa-Sanchez House is load-bearing masonry. The 
building’s West and East wings are constructed of locally mined, dressed coquina stone, laid in 
horizontal courses, and are set above the coquina foundations. 

The structural system of the building’s second level is partially constructed from wood framing. 
A layer of stucco has been applied to all exterior walls, except the East Wing's second level’s 
westernmost section, dating from the 1980 restoration project. According to the restoration 
architect, H. Shepard, the stucco applied over the coquina masonry was tinted pink. Two more 
layers of paint appear to be added to the 1980-era stucco. The building's West, East, and South 
stucco facades are scored to simulate ashlar-laid masonry. 

The building's north façade, which faces into the adjacent courtyard of the property at 41 St 
George Street, is stuccoed and painted white. The beaded-edge weatherboard siding clads the 
westernmost section of the East Wing’s second level and is painted white.

B: West Wing, W and S facades, looking NE D: East Wing, N facade, looking E C: East Wing, S facade, looking NW

A: East Wing,  E facade, looking W
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E: East Wing, N facade, looking SE

61



WEST ELEVATION SOUTH ELEVATION 
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ROOF 

The wood-shingled, side-gabled roof shelters the building’s West Wing; its ridge extends in 
a north-south direction. The roof has a double pitch to the east and intersects with the gable 
roof that shelters the building’s East Wing, set perpendicularly to St. George Street (drawing 
- west, east, and south elevations).

The roof has minimal overhangs (A). A shed roof shelters balcony extending along the West 
Wing's west façade (B). A shed roof shelters the loggia that extends along the East Wing's 
south façade (C). 

The exterior chimney, built of coquina and stuccoed, is located at the West Wing's south 
façade (D). An interior chimney is located close to the East Wing's east façade (E).

A: West wing, E facade, East 
Wing, S facade, looking NW 

B: West Wing, S facade,  
looking NE 

C: East Wing, E facade,  looking W D: West Wing, S facade,  looking N 
and up

E: South Wing, S facade,  looking N 
and up
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A: West Wing, W facade, looking SE B: West Wing, S facade, looking NE
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WEST WING – WEST FACADE 

The main entrance to the building, located at the center of the West Wing’s 
west façade, is a six-panel door with sidelights (A, C). Two twelve-over-
eight wood sash windows, flanked by operable, vertical board wood 
shutters, are placed symmetrically to the south and north of the main 
entrance. The shutters have Z-bracing, wrought iron hinges, and hold-backs 
A, D, C). The west façade's second level has three twelve-over-eight wood 
sash windows (F). A double-leaf, four-panel door provides access from the 
balcony into Room 201 (G). All window frames and trim are painted white. 
The shutters are painted dark brown. Most of the windows and doors on the 
West Wing’s west façade were reconstructed according to H. Shepard's 
design and were installed during the 1980 restoration. The northernmost 
window on the second level replaced a door that existed before restoration.

To return the façade to its American Territorial Period visual appearance, 
two doorways created in 1959 were filled in with masonry (concrete block 
or brick) during the restoration. 

C: West Wing, W facade, looking E

D: West Wing, W facade, looking E E: West Wing, W facade, 
looking N

F: West Wing, W facade, 
looking E

G: West Wing, W facade, 
looking E
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WEST WING - BALCONY 

The balcony, sheltered by a shed roof, extends along the West Wing's 
west facade. The roof is supported by chamfered wood posts. The 
balcony, except for the square balusters, is painted dark brown. The 
balusters are painted white (A). 

The soffit boards under the roof are painted white. The entire balcony, 
including the balusters and posts, was installed during the 1980s 
restoration (B).

A: West Wing, balcony, looking E and up B: West Wing, balcony, looking N and up
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WEST WING – SOUTH AND EAST FACADES 

The West Wing's south façade is windowless (A). To return the façade to its 
American Territorial Period visual appearance, the doorway on the first level 
and window opening on the second level were infilled. The exterior, stuccoed 
and ashlar-scored coquina chimney is located at the south facade of the West 
Wing. 

A one-story room (Room 104), sheltered by a shed roof, extends toward the 
east (B). There is an original casement window flanked by wooden shutters on 
the West Wing's east facade's at the first floor (C). 

 The  twelve-over-eight sash window is located on the West Wing’s east 
façade's upper level (C).

A: West Wing, S facade, looking N and up B: West Wing, E facade, looking W C: West Wing, E facade, looking W and up
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WEST AND EAST WING – NORTH FACADES 

The West Wing's north façade is windowless (A).  

There is a twelve-over-twelve sash window on the second level of the 
East Wing’s north façade (B). The window frames are painted white. 
There is a twelve-over-eight wood sash window on the westernmost 
section of the north facade. The operable shutters, pained dark brown, 
flank the westernmost window. 

As part of the work of the 1980 restoration, the building was returned to 
the Territorial Period appearance. These alterations included the 
enclosure of  three windows on the north facade's first level and two 
window openings on the second level. There are ghost marks visible on 
the façade where these openings existed A; B, C).

A: West Wing, N facade, looking SE and up.  B: East Wing, N facade, looking SE and up.  C: East Wing, N facade, looking S.
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EAST WING – EAST FACADE 

A single, twelve-over-twelve wood sash window is located on the East Wing's 
east facade's second level (A). The window frames and trim are painted white 
(B). Several openings, such as openings in the attic and window and door 
openings on the first level, were enclosed during the 1980 restoration. 

The wooden access door for the recessed electric meter is located on the north 
side at the first-floor level of the façade (C). A wooden fence conceals a service 
yard where the exterior AC unit is located.

A: East Wing, S facade, looking NW  B: East Wing, S facade, looking NW and up  C: East Wing, S facade, looking NW 
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EAST WING – SOUTH FACADE 

Beaded-edge weatherboard siding clads the East Wing's second-story, wood-
frame, on the westernmost section. The siding was installed during the 1980 
restoration and resembles the original Territorial Period woodwork. 

There are three, wood sash windows on the first level and five on the second 
level. The easternmost, twelve-over-twelve sash window on the second level 
is original. The window to the west of the door that leads to the balcony and 
the easternmost window on the façade's first level were reconstructed 
according to the design of the original window. 

Original, six-over-six sash windows are located on the western section of the 
façade’s ground level. The operable shutters flank windows on the façade’s 
first level. Two reconstructed twelve-over-eight sash windows and one six-
over-six sash window are located on the western section of the façade's 
second level. All window frames and trim are painted white. The shutters are 
painted dark brown.

A: East Wing, S facade, looking N  B: East Wing, S facade, looking N 
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A: East Wing,  Loggia, looking NE B: East Wing,  Loggia, looking E C: East Wing,  Loggia, looking W

72



EAST WING – LOGGIA  (Rooms 109 and 209) 

The loggia that extends along the East Wing's south facade has an exterior 
stairway (A, B). The framing of the loggia is original, dating back to the American 
Territorial Period (see Woodcock, 1994, pg. 19). The second-level flooring, posts 
supporting the floor, and stairs were installed during the 1980 restoration. All 
wood details, except balusters are painted dark brown, the balusters are painted 
white. 

On the ground level, a reconstructed six-panel door leads into the building's 
interior (Room 107), and a reconstructed board-and-cleat door leads into Room 
110. On the second level, two twelve-over-twelve wood sash windows are located
on both sides of the paneled door. All window frames and trim are painted white.
There are two doors on the second level, one leading into Room 210; another door
leads from the east into Room 207. Both doors and trim are painted white.

A concrete floor that resembles tabby is laid on the loggia's first level.

D: East Wing,  Loggia, looking N E: East Wing,  Loggia, looking N and up F: East Wing,  Loggia, looking NE and up
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INTERIOR
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A: Room 107 looking N

74



Finishes

There are two types of ceiling throughout the building's first 
floor: plank ceilings in rooms 101, 102, 103, 106, and 108; and 
exposed wood beam ceilings in rooms 104, 105, 107, and 110. 

The wall finishes that existed before the 1980 restoration were 
all removed and replaced with plaster and painted to represent 
the original finish. 

Before restoration, most of ceiling planks, cornice trim, door 
frames, window frames, window sills, surrounds, and returns 
were noted as extant in reports (Woodcock, 1994; Shepard & 
Associates 1977).

B: Room 101, looking N D: Room 101, looking S E: Room 104/105, looking E

C: Room 107, looking S
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Typical Doors and Windows

Most interior and exterior doors on the building's first level were installed during the 
building’s restoration. For the DeMesa-Sanchez House restoration project, H. Shepard 
developed a schematic design for typical doors: a six-panel door with quirked ovolo, fillet, 
and flat panels on both sides;  a four- panel door with square and flat panels on both sides; 
and common ledged door, primary face, and cleated face. On the second level, most doors 
are original to the American Territorial period. 

Multipane, single-hung  wood windows are located throughout the building.

B: East  Wing,  door D23 C: East Wing, S facade, door D11 D: Room 103, looking NE, door  D5 

A: East Wing, E facade, window 2E1
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Mechanical Systems

Air-conditioning and Heating. A partition wall was constructed east of the original wall 
between rooms 106 and 108 to accommodate air-conditioning equipment. At the first floor 
level, air-conditioning and heating ducts were installed under the floor during restoration 
(B). On the second level, air-conditioning ducts are located above the ceilings (C).

Electrical System. Restoration architect H. Shepard specified that no electrical equipment 
should be visible after finishing the restoration project. Portable extension cords and power 
strips are  used to provide electricity to to interior and exterior spaces (A).

Plumbing System: For the convenience of the museum employees, plumbing was installed 
to create a bathroom on the building's second level (D). The wood frame partition wall was 
constructed to the east of the original wall between rooms 106 and 108.

B:  Room 103, looking W and down C: Room 204, looking N and up D:Room 208A, looking NW

 A: Room 101, looking N
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A: Room 101, looking S B: Room 101, looking W

C: Room 101, looking E D: Room 101, looking W
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Room 101 

Room 101 is part of the building's first expansion (1763 - 1783). This expansion 
includes rooms 102, 106, and 108. The west and south walls are coquina masonry. 
The north wall is wood frame construction. The south wall's central section and 
doorway that connects rooms 101 and 104 were reconstructed (possibly using the 
concrete block or brick). All walls are plastered and painted white to represent the 
original plaster finish (A, B, C, D). 

The ceiling planks have rough sawn finish and probably date from the Colonial period 
(Woodcock, 1994 Report, pg. 10). The exposed planks are painted white. The 
molding is the same as in rooms 102, 103, 106, and 108. 

The wood plank floor, installed on sleepers over the concrete, is a reconstruction of 
the Territorial Period wooden flooring. To emphasize that material is not original, 
Shepard suggested to use blind nailing, unlike typical for earlier construction. The 
floor is painted in a dark, reddish brown shade, and a dark-ocher shade ornament is 
painted on the floor (E). The baseboards have beaded edges and are painted white. 
The paint and decoration were applied after 1994 (possibly in the early 2000s when 
DeMesa-Sanchez House was closed to visitors and the exhibition and interpretation of 
the building were updated). 

Four-panel wooden doors in the east and north walls were produced according to H. 
Shepard's architectural drawings. The graining applied to the door to Room 102 was 
added after the restoration (1994 Report, pg. 10).

The twelve-over-eight wood sash window is located on the west wall. It is in its 
original position. The frames and window trim are painted white. The fireplace’s 
frontispiece could date from the late 18th century, but no clear evidence indicates 
when it was constructed (1994 Report, pg. 11).

E: Room 101, looking SE
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A: Room 102, looking W B: Room 102, looking E
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ROOM 102 

Room 102 was part of the building's first expansion during the years between 
1763 and 1783. This expansion includes Rooms 101, 106, and 108. The north 
and south walls are constructed from wood framing. All walls are plastered 
and painted white to represent the original plaster finish (A, B).

The ceiling planks have a rough-sawn finish and probably date from the 
Colonial period. The exposed planks are painted white. The molding is the 
same as in rooms 101, 103, 106, and 108. 

The wood plank floor, installed on sleepers over the concrete, is a 
reconstruction of the Territorial Period wooden flooring. The floor planks are 
painted in a dark, mustard ochre shade, and dark brown ornament is painted 
on the floor (C, D). The baseboards have beaded edges and are painted white. 
Six-panel wooden doors in the east and north walls were produced according 
to H. Shepard's architectural drawings. Molding at the door was present at the 
time of restoration. The graining was applied after the restoration (Woodcock, 
1994 Report, pg. 10).

C: Room 102, looking E and down D: Room 102, looking E 
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D: Room 103, looking W

B: Room 103, looking EA: Room 103, looking N

C: Room 103, looking SW
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ROOM 103

This room is the original one-room, one-story building built by De Mesa in the 
early to mid-18th century. 

The west and north walls are coquina masonry construction that date from the 
Colonial period. The east masonry wall was partially reconstructed. All walls are 
plastered and painted white to represent the original plaster finish.. The south wall 
is wood frame  construction A, B, C, D). 

The ceiling planks have a rough-sawn finish and probably date from the Colonial 
period. The planks are painted white. The molding is the same as in rooms 101, 
102, 106, and 108.

The wood plank floor, installed on sleepers over the concrete, is a reconstruction 
of the Territorial Period wooden flooring. It was reconstructed from 
archaeological evidence, and there is a tabby floor beneath (1994 Report, pg. 9). 
The baseboards have beaded edges and are painted white.

The four-panel, wooden door in the east wall was produced according to H. 
Shepard's architectural drawings (E). The door in the east wall was likely a 
window before rooms 106 and 108 were constructed. The graining applied to 
Room 101, Room 102, and Room 103 doors was added after the restoration (1994 
Report, pg. 10). 

The window in the room is in its original position. The jambs of the opening are 
splayed, which adhere to the Colonial period construction method (1994 Report, 
pg. 10). 

E: Room 103, looking NE
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A: Room 104 looking S

B: Rooms 104 and 105, looking W C: Rooms 104 and 105, looking N
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Rooms 104 and 105

The east and south walls of Room 104 are original coquina masonry. The west wall was 
reconstructed during the building’s restoration. All walls are plastered and painted 
white to represent the original plaster finish (A, B, C). The ceiling slopes from the west 
wall to the east. The rafters that support the stained wood plank ceilings are exposed 
and painted white. There are no moldings around the room’s upper perimeter. The 
wood plank floor, installed on sleepers over the concrete, is a reconstruction of the 
Territorial Period wooden flooring. The baseboards have beaded edges and are painted 
dark brown. The door on the west wall leads to Room 101. The door trim is painted 
white. There is a casement window without interior trim on the east wall. The window 
frame is painted white.

The north and west walls of Room 105 are original coquina masonry. The east wall is 
wood-frame construction. When first constructed, this area may have been a patio with 
an exterior stair. The west and east walls are plastered and painted white to represent 
the original plaster finish. The north wall is constructed of beaded planks and is painted 
in a dark, reddish-brown shade. The baseboard along the north wall is also painted in 
dark, reddish-brown shade.

The ceiling planks have rough-sawn finish and probably date from the Colonial period. 
The planks and exposed rafters are painted white. The wood plank floor, installed on 
sleepers over the concrete, is a reconstruction of the Territorial Period wooden flooring. 
The baseboards have beaded edges and are painted dark brown. There are door opening 
on the west and east walls of the room.

The three-run, two-landing wooden stair connects Room 105 and Room 204. The stair, 
that initially connected a porch to the second floor was added by Juan Sanchez around 
1785. The staircase materials have not been replaced since it was constructed (1994 
Report, pg. 12). The stairs, handrail, and skirting are in painted dark, reddish-brown 
brown. The balusters are painted white. The stair risers and treads are decorated with a 
painted black “runner” with yellow borders. The five-panel door that leads into the 
enclosed space underneath the staircase was part of the room’s construction (D).

D: Room 105, looking N
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A: Room 106, looking S
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Room 106 

Room 106 is part of the building's first expansion (1763 - 1783). This expansion 
includes Rooms 101, 102, and 108. The north and south walls of the room are original 
coquina masonry. The room's west wall was reconstructed during the restoration (the 
material used for this wall is either concrete block or brick). The east wall is original 
wood frame construction. All walls are plastered and painted white to represent the 
original plaster finish (A).

The ceiling planks have a rough-sawn finish and probably date from the Colonial 
period. The planks are painted white. The molding is the same as in rooms 101, 102, 
103, and 108.

The wood plank floor, installed on sleepers over the concrete, is a reconstruction of the 
Territorial Period wooden flooring. The baseboards have beaded edges and are painted 
white. The six-panel wooden door on the south wall was produced according to H. 
Shepard's architectural drawings.

A window in the south wall opens into the staircase, indicating that the stair was 
built after this addition B, C, D). There are paneled shutters on the Room 106 side 
of that window. The sawn wooden lath behind the plaster, applied on the north 
wall of  Room 105, is visible through the window opening. 

B: Room 106, looking NW C: Room 106, looking S D: Room 106, looking S E: Room 106, looking E
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Room 107 

The north, east, and south walls of Room 107 are original coquina masonry. The 
west wall is wood frame construction. All walls are plastered and painted white 
to represent the original plaster finish (A, B, C, D). Planks that form the ceiling 
were placed during the building's restoration. The planks and exposed rafters are 
painted white.

The wood plank floor, installed on sleepers over the concrete, is a reconstruction 
of the Territorial Period wooden flooring. The baseboards have beaded edges and 
are painted dark brown.

A four-panel doors lead to rooms 106 and 108. There is no door in the opening 
between rooms 107 and 105 (E). A six-panel door is located on the south wall. 
All doors were produced according to H. Shepard’s architectural drawings (G).

The twelve-over-eight sash window on the room’s north wall is original (F). The 
frame and trim are painted white. There are two six-over-six pane single hung 
windows located on the south wall. Windows are placed symmetrically on both 
sides of the door. Both window frames are painted white. There is no trim on 
the window. 
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E: Room 107, looking W F: Room 107, looking N G: Room 107, looking S
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A: Room 108,  looking S
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Room 108 
Room 108 is part of the first expansion, which took place between 1763 and 1783. 
This expansion includes Rooms 101, 102, and 106. The north, east and south walls 
are original coquina masonry. The west wall is a wood frame construction. All walls 
are plastered and painted white to represent the original plaster finish. 

The ceiling planks have a rough-sawn finish and probably date from the Colonial 
period. The planks are painted white. The molding is the same as in rooms 101, 102, 
103, and 106. 

The wood plank floor, installed on sleepers over the concrete, is a reconstruction of 
the Territorial Period wooden flooring. The baseboards have beaded edges and are 
painted white. 

A four-panel wooden door on the south wall and the board and cleat door on the east 
wall were produced according to H. Shepard’s architectural drawings. Both doors are 
painted white. There is no trim on the doors. 

There is a window on the room's south wall. The window frame is painted white. 
There is no trim on the window.
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B: Room 108,  looking E C: Room 108,  looking N D: Room 108,  looking NW
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A: Room 110, looking S
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 Room 110 

The north, east, south, and west walls of Room 110 are original coquina masonry 
construction that date to the Second Spanish period. A wood-frame partition set west 
of the original masonry wall creates a void space for ductwork equipment. All walls 
are plastered and painted white to represent the original plaster finish. 

The ceiling planks have a rough-sawn finish and probably date from the Colonial 
period. The planks and exposed rafters are painted white. The simulated tabby 
concrete floor was installed during the building’s restoration. There are no baseboards 
installed around the room's perimeter. 

A board-and-cleat door is located on the northern side of the west wall and leads into 
Room 108. A four-panel door is located on the south side of the west wall and leads 
into Room 107. The board-and-cleat entry door is located on the south wall. All doors 
were produced according to H. Shepard’s architectural drawings. All doors and trim 
are painted white. A reconstructed twelve-over-twelve pane wood frame sash window 
is located on the south wall, east of the entrance door. The frame is painted white. 
There is no trim on the window.

The fireplace is located on the east wall.

E: Room 110, looking W D: Room 110, looking N

B: Room 110, looking NE

C: Room 110, looking E
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A: West Wing, E facade, looking W

B: East Wing, S facade, looking N and down

C: East Wing, N facade, looking S D: Room 107,  looking S
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CONDITIONS ASSESSMENT

Summary

The key issues noted in the Conditions Assessment are summarized below. 

Site Features: The site has paved and landscaped areas that are in overall good condition. An updated interpretive plan for the site 
features, paving, and landscaping would aid in site water management and interpretation of the site that reinforces the period of 
significance. 

Stucco and Paint: The painted stucco that covers the facades is in fair to good condition. Some walls exhibit areas of surface 
abrasion and damage, especially at the lower level. There is some evidence of moisture damage, including chalking and peeling of the 
coatings in certain locations. 

Masonry walls: Some of the walls appear to be damp, especially those at the lower level. A periodic monitoring program should be 
implemented to gather data for implementing a treatment strategy. See Interior Features and Materials discussion.  

Roofs: The roof shakes appear to be in overall good condition, with some areas of aging apparent 
Porches: The porch features, including the woodwork, appear to be in fair to good condition. The east exterior stairs exhibit some 
issues at the connection to the upper porch. 

Windows: Most of the windows are in fair to good condition, see façade by façade discussion 

Doors: Exterior doors are in overall good condition, see façade by façade discussion 

Interiors: There are a range of conditions noted for the interiors, see room by room discussion 

Building Systems: See Building Systems discussion  
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Site Features - Fences, Paving and Landscaping 

The white-painted, low wood picket fence and gate, placed along 
St George Street between the Colonial Quarter sign and post and 
the southwest corner of the west wing are in fair to good 
condition. Plants at the southwest corner of the west wing are in 
contact with the building walls, potentially trapping moisture. 

The wood ticket booth and taller wood fence set back from the 
west property line are in fair condition. The south gate into the 
courtyard is sagging from the hinges. The placement of the ticket 
booth’s north wall against the house west wing’s south stucco 
wall may contribute to moisture damage in this location. 

Along the south and east walls of the building, some foundation 
plantings are too close to the masonry walls and serve to trap 
moisture.  

Some paving and site features impede site water flow away from 
the building. The westernmost concrete walkway that leads to the 
south façade should be either removed or replaced to promote 
drainage of water away from the building. 

A: West Wing, S facade, looking NE C: Ticket booth, looking NEB: Ticket booth, looking W 

96



D: Plants along E and S facades, looking NW E: Concrete walkway, looking NW

E: Concrete walkway, looking N

97



A: West Wing, roof's E slopes looking NW
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Wood Shingle Roofs 

The roofs were viewed only from ground level (A). Overall, the 
wood shingle roofs appear to be in good condition.  

The north façade shingles are beginning to display some 
cupping, minor uplift of a few shingles on small areas of the roof 
(B). The south façade and west façade roof shingles display some 
minor areas of cupping and warping but overall appear to be in 
good condition.  

Overall, the flashing materials appear to be in good condition at the 
chimney/roof penetrations at the east chimney and the south 
chimney. The drip edges appear secure and in good condition. The 
gutters and downspouts appear to be well-fastened and in 
good condition (C). 

B: East Wing, roof's N slope, looking SE and up C: West Wing, roof's Eslope, looking NW and up
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A: West Wing, W wall chimney, looking NE and up

B: West Wing, Wwall chimney, looking SEand up

C: West Wing, W wall chimney, looking NW and up
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Chimneys 

The south wall chimney’s painted stucco, masonry, and cap appear 
to be in good condition on the exterior. The north face of the 
chimney exhibits some minor plant growth at the top and mold 
growth (not visible from the street).   

The east wall chimney’s painted stucco, masonry and cap appear to 
be in good condition on the exterior 

D: East Wing, E wall chimney, looking SE and up E: East Wing, E wall chimney, looking N and up
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A: West Wing, W facade, looking NE B: West Wing, S facade, looking NE
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Painted Stucco - West Wing Facades 

Overall, the painted stucco on the West Wing’s west façade is 
in good condition. There are a few areas of mold discoloration 
and wear, mostly near the ground level. There is some minor 
fading of the paint color in various locations. The wall surface 
at the second level is protected by the porch roof and is in 
good condition.

The West Wing’s south wall exhibits some minor ripples in 
the stucco texture, but is in overall good condition.

The east wall first and second level painted stucco walls are in 
good condition.

The painted stucco on the north wall appears to be in good 
condition overall. 

B: West Wing, E facade, looking NW D: West Wing, N facade, looking SE and up
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A: East Wing, S facade, looking N

104



Painted Stucco - East Wing Facades 

Overall, the painted stucco on the east wing’s south and east 
façades is in good condition. There is some minor fading of the 
paint color in various locations. There are a few areas of 
mold discoloration and wear, mostly near the ground level (A, 
B, C). 

The south façade under the south loggia has faded paint close 
to the concrete walk under the loggia. There may be 
additional moisture issues in this portion of the wall to be 
investigated further. 

The moisture issues that are visible on the first-floor interior 
walls (see Interiors) are not readily apparent on the exterior 
walls. Further investigation is needed, see Recommendations 
section. 

B: East Wing, S facade, looking N C: East Wing, S facade, looking N
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A: East Wing, S facade, looking NE, November 2022 BB::  East East Wing, Wing, S facade, looking facade, looking NNE, November 2022E, November 2022

C: East Wing, S facade, looking NE, November 2022 D: East Wing, S facade, looking N, June 2022
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East Wing – Painted, Wood Beaded-edge Weatherboard 

Repairs to this material were observed during the Fall 2022 site 
visits. The condition of this material now appears to be good. 

E: East Wing, S facade, looking NE, November 2022 F: East Wing, S facade, looking NE, June 2023
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A: West Wing, Balcony, looking SE and up C: West Wing, Balcony, looking SE and up 

B: West Wing, Balcony, looking E

108



West Wing - Balcony 

Most of the wood elements of the balcony are in good condition (A, 
B, C, D). The woodwork applied to the façade at the upper south-west 
corner displays some minor damage and chipped paint (E).

D: West Wing, Balcony, looking NE and up E: West Wing, Balcony, looking NE and up
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East Wing - Loggia 

Most of the wood elements of the loggia are in good condition (A, B). 

A: East Wing, loggia, looking E B: East Wing, loggia, looking NE 

110



Exterior  Doors - West Wing

The west entrance door, frame and sidelights (D1) are in 
overall good condition (A). The wood sill has some areas of 
chipped paint, and the lower sections of the frame have minor 
evidence of wea (B).. 

The west façade Balcony door and frame (D14) are in 
good condition (C). 

A: Door D1  West Wing, W facade, looking E B: Door D1  West Wing, W facade, looking NE C: Door D14  West Wing, W facade, looking E
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Exterior Doors - East Wing

The south façade, east-side door and frame (D11) are 
protected by the Loggia above (A, B). The paint finish 
exhibits some chipping, especially at the wood sill and lower 
area of the door casings, and the bottom of the door planks 
indicates some moisture absorption into the wood. 

The south façade, west-side door and frame (D13) are in fair 
condition on the exterior (C). The interior face of lower wood 
panels indicates significant rot and damage to the painted 
wood. 

A: Door D11  East Wing, S  facade, 
looking N

B: Door D11  East Wing, S facade, looking N C: Door D13  East Wing, S  facade, looking N
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A: Door D23  East Wing, S facade, looking N

Exterior Doors - East Wing

The east façade door and frame (D23) from the Loggia is 
in good condition (A). 

The south façade door (D24) from the Loggia is in good 
condition (B). 

B: Door D24  East Wing, Loggia, looking W
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Exterior Wood Shutters  West Wing,  East Facade 

Shutter at window 1E2 is in good condition (A). 

A: West Wing, E facade, window 1E2, looking W

Window - West Wing,  East Facade 

Window 1E2 is in good condition (A).  Window 2E6 
is in good condition (B) 

B: West Wing, E facade, window 2E6 looking W
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Windows – North Facades of West Wing and East Wing 

Window 2N1 was not accessible for viewing from the exterior 
of the adjacent property (B). 

Window 2N2 appears in fair condition, with significant amount 
of peeling paint on the frames and sash, the sill appears to have 
some rot (A). Shrubs obscure most of the sill board from view. 

B: East Wing, N facade, looking S Window 2N1, not 
accessible for viewing

A: East Wing, N facade, looking S Window 2N2
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Windows - East Wing, South Façade 

Window 1S1 is protected under the loggia floor and roof 
above and are in good condition (C). 

Window 1S2 is in good condition, with minor chipping 
and small amounts of loss of glazing putty in upper sash 
(B). 

C: East Wing, window 1S1, looking NEB: East Wing, window 1S2, looking NA: East Wing, window 1S3, looking N

Exterior Wood Shutters - East Wing, South Facade

 Shutters at windows 1S1, 1S2, 1S3 are in good 
condition (A, B, C).
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Windows - East Wing, South Façade 

2S1 and 2S2 are protected by the Loggia roof and are in good 
condition (A, B). 

A: East Wing, window 2S2, looking N B: East Wing, window 2S1, looking N
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Windows - East Wing, South Façade 

.Windows 2S3 and 2S5 appear to be in overall good condition 
A, C). 

Window 2S4 is in overall good condition, there is cracking and 
splitting of the wood of the projecting sill piece (B). 

A: East Wing, window 2S5, looking NE and up B: East Wing, window 2S4 looking NE and up C: East Wing, window 2S3, looking N and up
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Interior Features and Materials 

Some general interior conditions are noted in this section. Please 
refer to floor plans for room numbers. 

First Floor conditions 

The first-floor spaces are interpreted as historical spaces and are 
accessible to the public. The major issues noted in this condition 
assessment are as follows: 

• Evidence of painted plaster wall deterioration, which may 
indicate underlying moisture issues in the coquina masonry 
walls. There is evidence of moisture in the lower level of the 
masonry walls, especially noted in the internal masonry wall 
between spaces 106/108 and room 107. The south walls of the 
East wing also present evidence of moisture intrusion. See 
notes below for some specific locations of this damage (A).

• The mechanical system air delivery was designed for air ducts 
run in trenches under the restored lower level floors (A). This 
may become a future issue due to increased storm activity and 
rising water levels. See Recommendations section.

• The electrical system was designed for minimal power 
distribution to reinforce the interpretation of the site as a 
Territorial-era property. Careful thought was given in the 
previous restoration to strategic placement of hard-wired wall 
outlets, to maintain the historic character of the spaces. In some 
areas, temporary power cords are now used to supplement need 
for power for other uses. See Recommendations section (C).

A: Room 104, E wall, looking SE and down

B: Room 201, W wall, looking SW 
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Room 101 

No adverse conditions were noted on wood ceilings, woodwork, 
fireplace, or wood floors (A). 

There is a small area of bubbling painted plaster on the south wall to the 
west of the fireplace (B). 

A: Room 101, looking S
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Room 102 

No adverse conditions were noted on wood ceilings, plasters 
walls, and woodwork (A) .

Painted ornament on the wood floor is fading away (B).

A: Room 102, looking W

B: Room 102, looking W
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Room 103 

Minor plaster damage on lower area of wall near and below sill area 
of window 1W2, vertical plaster crack on east wall. 

A: Room 103, looking W
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A: Rooms  104 and105, looking SW
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Rooms 104 and 105 

This space has several areas of damage to the plaster walls, 
indicating moisture infiltration in the masonry wall: 

• west wall, high on the wall under the exposed beams (A)
• west wall, low on wall next to the wood staircase (A)
• south wall, low on wall below sill height (B)
• east wall, around the window opening (1E1), more

extensive plaster damage along the wall below the window
sill height (C)

B: Rooms 104 and 105, looking S C: Rooms 104 and 105, looking E and down
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Room 106 

Some evidence of plaster damage on the south wall (A).

A: Room 106, looking NE 
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Room 107 

Plaster damage on north wall and low on the south wall (A, B). 

A: Room 107,  looking N B: Room 107,  looking SW and down
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Room 108 

Plaster damage at all walls (A, B, C). At north wall damage is 
with corresponding water stain on wood floor. Significant 
deterioration of plaster along the south wall. 

B: Room 108,  looking SW

A: Room 108, looking NW

C: Room 108,  looking NE
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Room 110 

Plaster damage at south and east walls (A, B).

A: Room 110 , looking S B: Room 110,  looking S and down
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A: Room 201, looking S
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Second floor conditions 

Room 201 is an interpreted museum space (a). 

The other second floor rooms are used for furniture storage 
(Room 202), tenant operations (rooms 206, 207, 208 and 
208A), and equipment and supply storage (room 210), thereby 
limiting direct observation of the condition of some ceilings, 
and the walls and floors (B, C). 

B: Room 202, looking E C: Room 210, looking N
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Room 201 

No adverse conditions were noted on wood ceilings, plasters 
walls, woodwork, fireplace or wood floors. Window 2W1 has a 
power strip inserted in the board that displace the lower 
sash, and a temporary power cord is run through the room 
under the Loggia doors to the exterior. 

A: Room 201,  looking W A: Room 201,  looking W
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Room 202 

Limited visibility, no adverse conditions were noted on wood 
ceilings, plasters walls, woodwork. Wood floor showing 
some wear (A).  

Room 206 

Limited visibility, plaster damage on the north (exterior wall), and 
around the window 2N1 sill area (B). 

A: Room 202,  looking N B: Room 206,  looking E
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Room 204 

Limited visibility. No adverse conditions were noted on ceilings, 
woodwork, interior window (2I1), railing, stairs (where visible) 
(A, B, C).

A: Room 204, looking NW N B: Room 204,  looking  NE C: Room 204,  looking W
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Room 207 

Limited visibility due to contents of space, plaster damage around 
perimeter of window 2S (A, B). 

Room 208 

Limited visibility due to contents of space (C, D).

Room 208A 

No adverse conditions were noted on ceilings, plaster walls, 
floors, interior woodwork (C).

C: Room 208  looking N D:: Room 208 looking N E:: Room 208A  looking NW
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A: Room 207, looking W N B: Room 207, looking S
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Room 210 

Limited visibility due to contents of space, plaster damage at 
ceiling near north wall (A, C) and near the window 2N1 (B).

A: Room 210, looking E B: Room 210, window 2N1, looking N
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C: Room 210, looking N
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Interior wood doors 

Overall, the interior wood doors are in good 

condition. 

A: Door D14  looking W B: Door D18  looking E C: Door D19  looking NE

138



D: Door  D1 looking W E: Door D5 looking NE F: Door D9  looking NW

G: Door D10  looking E H: Door D13  looking S I: Door D11  looking S
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Interior woodwork, stained or painted 

Overall, the interior woodwork is in good condition 

A: Window 1I1, looking N B: Window 2W1, looking W
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C: Door 2D,  looking N
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Building systems 

Mechanical system 

The most visible component of the mechanical system are the supply grills embedded in the first 
floor wood and concrete floors, and the grills in the second floor wood or plaster ceilings (A, B). 
The system was in operation on the date of the site visit. See Recommendations for future 
considerations for the mechanical system. 

A: Room 107, looking SE B: Room 204, looking NW
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Electrical system 

The electrical meter is recessed in a void space on the east wall that is covered by a painted wood access door, painted finish is in fair 
condition (A). 

Room 201 had a temporary power cord running to the door at the balcony, then to the exterior for lighting (B). See Recommendations 
for future considerations for the electrical system. Power cords are running form the Room 208 (C). Consider future system 
adaptations for a more permanent solution to electrical needs for the building. 

A: East Wing, esat facade,  looking NW B: Room 201, looking SW C: Room 208, looking W

143

kristineziedina
Rectangle

kristineziedina
Rectangle



RECOMMENDATIONS 

Guidelines and Treatment Approach 

The DeMesa-Sanchez House is a historic property managed by 
University of Florida Historic St. Augustine Inc. (UFHSA). The 
property is currently operated as an interpretive museum space 
and offices/ work spaces for the Colonial Quarter organization. 
The interpretation of the site and building provides the residents 
and visitors an opportunity to experience the City’s rich 
architectural heritage through the building’s visual appearance, 
form, and materials. From extensive research and historic 
preservation projects of the last fifty years, important character-
defining features have been preserved and restored to present the 
architecture and streetscape of the American Territorial Period. 
The DeMesa-Sanchez House embodies, in three-dimensional 
form, the evolution of a site over the multiple historical periods 
that shaped today’s City of St. Augustine.  

These recommendations for the property are guided by two 
documents. The Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the 
Treatment of Historic Properties with Guidelines for Preserving, 
Rehabilitating, Restoring & Reconstructing Historic Buildings 1, 
provides overall guidance for selecting the appropriate Treatment 
Approach.  The City of St Augustine’s Architectural Guidelines 
for Historic Preservation 2 provides more detailed guidance for 
the treatment of historic features and materials, with specific 
recommendations for the design of the site and landscape, and 
treatment of exterior materials, including appropriate paint colors. 

1 The Secretary of the Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic 
Properties, National Park Service Technical Preservation Services.  
https://www.nps.gov/orgs/1739/secretary-standards-treatment-historic-
properties.htm 

For the building’s exterior and interior spaces, an overall 
Preservation Treatment is recommended. The National Park 
Service defines a Preservation treatment approach “as the act or 
process of applying measures necessary to sustain the existing 
form, integrity, and materials of an historic property. Work, 
including preliminary measures to protect and stabilize the 
property, generally focuses upon the ongoing maintenance and 
repair of historic materials, and features rather than extensive 
replacement and new construction.”3  The Standards for 
Preservation require retention of the greatest amount of historic 
fabric along with the building’s historic form. 

Any future modifications to the building’s mechanical, electrical, 
or plumbing systems should minimize alterations to the floor plan 
and exterior elevations, and preserve/ protect the historic building 
materials. 

2 https://www.citystaug.com/DocumentCenter/View/153/Architectural-
Guidelines-for-Historic-Preservation-PDF 
3  https://www.nps.gov/articles/000/treatment-standards-preservation.htm 
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General recommendations for the DeMesa-Sanchez House 

• For any interventions in the physical fabric of the property, document existing conditions with photographs, videos, drawings, and
field notes, before commencing work, during the work and after completion of the project

• Retain and preserve all character-defining features

• Any character-defining features that are deemed necessary to remove should be retained, tagged, and stored for future
reinstallation

• Where appropriate as part of future work, previously altered or removed features could be restored or reconstructed respectively

• Any modifications or replacement of the existing contemporary finish materials should be installed with reversibility in mind and
to not damage the historic features and materials of the building

• Any excavation work on the property should adhere to local, state, and national standards regarding the investigation,
documentation, and management for any archaeological resources
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Recommendations for specific features 
 
The following specific recommendations include both 
maintenance and repair considerations. 
 
Site features, fences, paving and landscaping 
 
Paving, landscaping and site features  
• Periodically check landscaped and paved areas for debris, 

trash, damage to paved surfaces 
• Develop a future landscape design for site features to support 

interpretive goals for the property and enhance the experience 
of the site  

• Selection of new plant materials should balance 
recommendations from the City’s Architectural Guidelines for 
Historic Plant Materials and resiliency improvements in the 
landscape 

 
Wood fence and ticket booth at St George Street entrance 
• Periodic assessment of wooden fence/ ticket booth condition. 

Repair as required in conformance with the City’s 
Architectural Guidelines on materials and installation 
methods 

• Eventual removal of ticket booth from street facade, and 
recreation of appropriate fence/ wall, in conformance with the 
City’s Architectural Guidelines on materials and installation 
methods 

 
Walkways/ Concrete walks 
• Check for uneven surfaces, cracked paving, damaged or 

missing mortar joints 
• Repair small areas with similar materials, replace cracked 

sections, maintain proper slopes for accessibility and site 
drainage away from building walls  

 

 
 
Landscaping 
• Do not allow plants to touch building materials and surfaces 
• Remove perimeter plantings along the south and east facades 
• Keep branches from overhanging the roof  
• Treat for pests, review condition of plantings and beds, 

consult with plant specialists and arborists as needed 
• Use care with equipment (mowers, trimmers, etc) around 

building foundations, walls, and porches 
 

Exterior Water Management: Site Drainage 
• Visually observe site stormwater management systems, 

annually and after major storm events. 
• Check ground drainage near building foundations to ensure 

water flows away from the building. Inspect for build-up of 
earth and organic matter around the perimeter and maintain 
separation of any wood framing or trim at least 6” from ground 
contact.  

• If conditions require additional storm water management, 
develop designs and implementation strategies. 

 
Flood proofing/ resiliency planning 
• Short term: improve site storm water management. Monitor 

and record any resulting flooding events due to storm activity 
• Long term: develop a flood protection plan, refer to “Flood 

Mitigation Design Guidance for 
Historic Coquina Buildings,” September 2021, 
recommendations for the DeMesa-Sanchez House 
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Building Exterior 

Painted stucco 
• Inspect facades annually or after major storm events and

note locations and sizes of cracks, peeling paint, biological
growths, and surface impact damage. Note areas where
damage may extend to masonry wall below the stucco.

• Most of the cracks on the facades appear to be superficial
and restricted to the sacrificial stucco material. Small
cracks should be patched and painted as part of the regular
maintenance routine. Use materials that are compatible
with the stucco composition, texture, pattern, and sheen
level.

• When cleaning areas of moss growth, mold, and mildew
damage, test products and methods on small areas first. Use
gentlest cleaning materials and methods possible. Use hand
applied materials or low-pressure washes with mild
cleansers that are compatible with the stucco materials.

• When repainting facades, match the approved paint color
palette, surface sheen recommendations, pattern, and
location of colors on the building, in accordance with the
City’s Architectural Guidelines on Paint Colors and
Placement. Prep surfaces to be repainted in accordance
with the requirements of the substrate material.

Masonry walls 
Refer to reports prepared by Herschel Shepard for the 
1970s restoration project for guidance on materials and methods.  
• Retain and protect coquina masonry walls with appropriate

stucco coatings and finishes
• Evaluate the overall condition of the masonry to determine

whether repairs rather than protection and maintenance are
required

• Develop a periodic monitoring program for moisture testing
of masonry to record changes in wall moisture based on
seasonal fluctuations and weather events.

• Investigate conditions of ‘rising damp” moisture in the first
floor north, intermediate, and south coquina walls. Monitor
east wall of room 104. Develop a preservation strategy for the
coquina masonry.

• Repair masonry with “in-kind” and compatible masonry and
mortars. See City’s Architectural Guidelines for further
recommendations on repair of masonry.

Wood shingle roof 
• Periodically inspect roof (annually and after storm events)
• Coordinate/ review interior monitoring reports for potential

water infiltration issues
• Coordinate/ review site monitoring reports for potential site

drainage issues
• Review underside of roof decks for signs of water infiltration
• Examine shingles for gaps, cupping and warping, biological

growth, and missing shingles
• Examine roof flashing at eaves, drip edges, dormers, wall-roof

intersections, and all roof penetrations
• Examine gutters and downspouts for evidence of leaking,

monitor performance during rain events, check points of
discharge on site in coordination with site water management
design

• Examine edge detail at fascias for misalignment, damage, or if
missing

Repair Recommendations: 
• Make repairs for any roofing problems as soon as possible.

Provide temporary protection for damaged areas until repairs
can be made, using tarps or waterproofing materials

• Replace missing/ damaged flashing, drip edges, caulking and
sealants
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• Re-secure loose flashings at chimneys, wall-roof connections, 
dormers, roof penetrations 

• Remove live vines and plants growing on or near the roof 
• Remove leaf and branch debris from roof surfaces, flashings 

and saddles  
• Periodically remove biological growths that may cause damage 

to roof shingles with products and application appropriate to 
the material  

• Trim branches away from roof 
• Roofing contractor should inspect roof at minimum every 5 

years or after a major storm event 
• Replace missing, damaged shingles with like materials as 

needed until such time as a new roof will be required.  
• Refer to Preservation Brief 4 Roofing for Historic Buildings  
 
Chimneys 
• Monitor with binoculars, at least annually and after storm 

events 
• Inspection by mason as part of roof monitoring at minimum 

every 5 years and after major storm events 
• Monitor condition of chimney cap for water-tightness 
• Monitor chimney flashing at roof penetrations 
• Monitor masonry for moisture transfer to wood framing   
• Monitor sealants for hardening and cracking.   
Repair Recommendations 
• Test existing mortar for composition and hardness. Repoint 

mortar joints with hydraulic lime mortar or other suitable 
mortar that matches the existing mortar (beware of too strong 
a mortar, must have less strength than the masonry to avoid 
stone damage). 

• Repair or replace chimney cap if damaged 
• For flashing repairs, use flashing similar to original 

installation. Clean out old sealants or mortar and properly re-
bed all step flashing. Use non-ferrous (copper) material that is 
compatible with roof materials 

Exterior: Painted siding at south facade, wood trim, fascia, 
rafter ends, raking and running trim 
• Examine trim for gaps, chipped, cracked, rotted or damaged 

wood 
• Check for missing or failing sealants at wall penetrations 
• Check for failing attachments for wall mounted signs or 

brackets 
• Monitor dormer siding for movement or deterioration, in joints, 

cracks and around openings 
Repair Recommendations: 
• Wash exterior woodwork only if there is excessive dirt or 

biological growth (mold, mildew) use gentlest means 
possible, natural bristle brushes, cloths and water only, to 
start. If more cleaning is needed, use mild phosphate-free 
detergents. Refer to Preservation Brief 10 Exterior Paint 
Problems on Historic Woodwork.  

• Note: Pressure washing is not recommended due to the 
increased risks of water infiltration and potential damage to 
the wood surface. 

• For re-nailing in historic materials, use fasteners appropriate 
for material and for appearance 

• Removal of the beaded wood siding boards on south facade 
requires great care, so as not to disturb more materials that 
necessary   

• Use smooth faced hammer to preserve anticorrosive surface of 
fasteners (nails) 

• Repair rotted non-structural wood with wood epoxy materials 
if possible, or dutchmen, if joints can be concealed. Replace 
materials only if rot/ damage compromises over 40% of the 
component.  

• For repainting, properly prepare the wood surfaces, in 
accordance with manufacturers recommendations. Ensure 
compatibility between old and new paint materials. 
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• Remove deteriorated caulks and sealants, clean and reapply
compatible materials using backer rods and following the
manufacturer’s recommendations.

Porch/ Loggias 
• Examine porch components for settlement or separation from

the building
• Examine tie-in connections at walls and roofs, coordinate with

roofing and siding monitoring, especially flashings
• Check that porch columns are securely fastened and aligned

properly, and that there is no shifting or twisting of the columns
• Check condition of column bases

o Check condition of all wood materials for signs of rot,
decay or pests (insect damage), rust stains indicating
fastener corrosion

• Check conditions of finishes and materials
o Check for missing or failing sealants at wall

connections
o Check for cracked or failing paint coatings
o Perform this review semi-annually.

Repair Recommendations 
• Clean (sweep) porch decks regularly
• Effect repairs; fill open cracks, holes or joints with

appropriate caulk materials and backer rods for larger holes.
• Use wood epoxies for repair of larger areas of damage
• Replace component only if repairs above cannot maintain

structural integrity of component.  Replacement pieces should
match existing in size, thickness, profile. Use treated wood for
all exterior components in contact with earth or masonry

• Coat with water-repellent wood preservative that can be
painted

• Apply high quality primers and paints according to
manufacturer’s recommendations, check compatibility with
old coatings and with substrate materials.

• Refer to Preservation Brief 45  Preserving Historic Wood
Porches for additional repair information.

Windows, exterior 
• Check that frames are not loose and are sealed properly to the

wall materials
• Check that sash fit in frame and operate properly
• Check that glass is securely fitted into sash frame, condition

of glazing putty, paint and no broken or cracked glass
• Check condition and finishes of sash hardware
• Check condition of wood components, for rot, damage, or

pest infestation. A vulnerable area appears to be the lower
rail/ stile joints at the south dormer windows

• Check paint condition and for rust stains from corrosion of
fasteners.

Repair Recommendations 
• Repair sections of rot/ damage with wood epoxy. If wood is

too damaged to repair, replace with in-kind materials, select
decay-resistant woods, match the existing component in size,
material, thickness, and profile

• Treat with wood preservative prior to painting
• Repair broken or missing glass, putty in window glass with oil-

based putty
• Clean window glass
• Clean handles and hardware with soft cloth
• Prep surfaces and paint window wood components using

appropriate materials and methods
• Refer to Preservation Brief 9 The Repair of Historic Wood

Windows for additional repair guidance.
• Remove the metal rods holding window boxes in masonry

openings on north and east walls and repair holes in
window exterior jamb casings
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Exterior wood shutters 
• Check that shutters fit in window opening and operate

properly
• Check condition and finishes of shutter hardware, hinges,

hold-backs, latches if any
• Check condition of wood components, connections at stiles

and rails and conditions of panels for rot, damage. or pest
infestation

• Check condition of wood finishes
Repair Recommendations
• Repair sections of rot/ damage with wood epoxy. If wood is

too damaged to repair, replace with in-kind materials, use
decay resistant wood matching the existing component in size,
material, thickness, and profile

• Treat with wood preservative prior to painting
• Prep surfaces and paint window wood components using

appropriate materials and methods
• Clean handles and hardware with soft cloth
• If full replacement of shutters is desired, consider redesign of

shutter construction for additional storm protection. (one
option is to provide metal plate on face of shutter that is against
the wall, not visible when shutters are in open position). Refer
to City’s Architectural Guidelines for wood hurricane shutters.

Exterior doors 
• Check that frames are not loose and sealed properly to the

wall materials
• Check that doors fit in frame and operate properly
• Check condition and finishes of door hardware, hinges, locks

and latches and knobs/ handles
• Check condition of thresholds
• Check condition of wood components, connections at stiles

and rails and conditions of panels for rot, damage. or pest
infestation

• Check condition of finishes
Repair Recommendations:
• Repair sections of rot/ damage with wood epoxy. If wood is

too damaged to repair, replace with in-kind materials,
matching the component in size, material, thickness, and
profile.

• Clean hardware with soft cloth, apply light coat of paste wax to
maintain finish.

• If stained finish is deteriorated, strip finish and stain the door,
follow with clear coat topcoat. For painted finish, prep wood
and repaint with appropriate color to match existing color
scheme
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Interior Features and Materials 

As noted in the existing conditions section, the overall interior 
condition appears to be good. In some areas, a closer visual 
inspection was impeded by furnishings, shelving, and products 
stored in the space. The following offers some general guidelines 
for maintenance and repairs as needed. 

Interior wood doors 
• Check operation of doors and hardware; hinges and latch sets/

locksets
• Check condition of door finishes, stained or painted, repair to

match existing finishes

Interior woodwork, stained or painted 
• For repair to interior finishes, match adjacent surfaces finish

treatments (painted or stained)
• Refer to Preservation Brief 28  Painting Historic Interiors

Fireplaces and surrounds 
• Check condition of fireplace surround woodwork and finish
• Check for cracking, displacement of hearth tiles
Repair
• Make repairs similar to those noted for interior woodwork
• Repair damaged tiles, if replacement tie is needed, find tile to

match as closely as possible.

Plaster walls and ceilings 
• Monitor plaster surfaces for signs of movement, cracks, and

gaps
• Monitor plaster condition for delamination of top coats,

cracking, stains, and signs of water intrusion, and deterioration
of plaster materials,

• Monitor near window openings, especially at window sills

• Perform this review at semi-annual intervals, and after
significant storm events

Repair Recommendations for some small areas of plaster 
deterioration as noted in the Existing Conditions section of the 
report. 
• Repair sources of water intrusion before effecting repairs
• Analyze plaster for composition, refer to 1970s restoration

project specifications for materials and application methods
• Fill hairline cracks with patching materials that are

compatible with existing materials
• Repaint with compatible materials to match existing color
• For additional repair guidelines, refer to Preservation Brief 21

Repairing Historic Flat Plaster—Walls and Ceilings.
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Building systems 
 
Structural Framing 
• Coordinate structural monitoring with review of interior 

finishes, mechanical systems, and exterior masonry 
• Check for deflected, cracked, or split framing members 
• Check for missing connections and fasteners 
• Check for signs of pest infestation and water infiltration 
• Provide guidelines for floor loads for storage in second floor 

spaces  
• Consult with architect/ structural engineer for guidance on 

repairs as needed 
 
Mechanical 
• Monitor operation of each system 
• Check utility bills for spikes in service 
Repair Recommendations: 
• Consider use of high-efficiency filters to minimize particulates 
• Replace deteriorated parts in system as soon as possible 
• Implement a comprehensive repair program for sealants and 

caulking, consider weather stripping at door perimeters, jambs 
and thresholds, to minimize air infiltration. 

• Refer to Preservation Brief 24  Heating, Ventilating, and 
Cooling Historic Buildings: Problems and Recommended 
Approaches. 

Future System Replacement 
• Plan for future new mechanical system, with considerations 

for humidity control and improving efficiency 
• Design for a consistent interior temperature/ humidity 

management. Consider dehumidification requirements for 
housing furnishings and artifacts, balance with stabilizing 
interior finishes such as the plaster walls 

• System design to be coordinated with any necessary electrical 
system \upgrades 

• Consider alternative air delivery systems for first floor, due to 
potential for flooding of the existing ductwork trenches 

 
Electrical  
Maintenance items and Repair Recommendations: 
• Monitor exterior equipment, fasteners, and condition.  
• Interior: Test switches and outlets at regular intervals, at least 

monthly  
• Routine maintenance includes bulb replacement 
• Check operations of smoke detectors and alarm system 

monthly 
Future electrical system work 
• Redesign for building’s operational needs for power, provide 

additional concealed outlets for power and lighting to minimize 
need for temporary power cords 

 
Plumbing 
Maintenance Items and Repair Recommendations: 
• Check operation of plumbing fixtures, check faucets for drips, 

check toilet operation, monitor for signs of leaks 
• Coordinate plumbing review with exterior review of pipe 

penetration flashing at roof and wall connection at second 
floor  

• Annually, review water consumption records for signs of 
water leaks 
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.(.. . ··------·----.. --- HIS~rORI CAL BACKGROUND 

The original construction date of the De Mesa­

Sanchez House is unknown. However, it is almost 

certain that it do,es not date before 1702 due to the 

fact that the entire city was burned during the 

Carolinian siege on the townx(Waterbury)' 1983). Also, 

the use of coquina and tabby increases in the 1730's 

and this is the construction of this housex(Manucy_x 

1962) . 

The first known owner of the house was Antonio De 

Mes@ho is also perhaps the builder. He came to St. 

Augustine by the 1740's and was employed by the Royal 

' Treasury. The house, at that time, was occupied by De 

Mesa and his wife and seven childrenx(Smithx 1981). It 

was a one room, one story residence and was constructed 

out of coquina~(Smithj 1981). According to 

descriptions of typical First Spanish style homes in 

The Houses of St. .Augustine by Albert Manucy, the De 

Mesa house is characteristic of the "St. Augustine" 

look of the time. 
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In 1763, the British took over St. Augustine and 

De Mesa and most of the other Spanish inhabitants left. 

Three different pctrties owned the house during the 

British occupation which lasted from 1763-1783. Those 

three were! William Walton, the Governor, and James 

Stout, the latter being the most important. The house 

was used as an export office and a place to stay when 

Stout and his family visited town. Stout added several 

rooms along the street front,(Smith, 1981). 

The SpaQish regained control of St. Augustine from 

178~-1821. At this time, the house was sold to don 

Juan Sanchez. He also enlarged the hou-E)nd in the 

mid-1790's the Royal Treasury occupied part of the 

building. By 1803, Sanchez built an east wing, added a 

second floor and constructed a detached kitchenf(Smith, 

1981). 

In 1821, the United States acquired Florida and in 

1835, James _Lisk bought the De Mesa-Sanchez house. He 
'. 

enclosed several porches and built a second story to 

integrate the detached kitchen with the rest of the 

house. He also stuccoed the coquina and painted it 
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pink on the exteriorf(Scardavillet 1981). Since then, 

there have been many owners of the house and features 

were added and det:c-acted at various times in 

history~(Scardavillef 1981). Finally, in 1965, the 

house was acquired by the St. Augustine Restoration 

Foundation and lat,9r transferred to the Historic St. 

Augustine Preservation BoardJ((Scardaville/ 1981). 

The De Mesa-Sanchez hou:=;e is now a house museum in 

the Restoration Di:5trict of ':he city. It is part of an 

exhibit that includes other Louses and outdoor colonial 

activities. It is restored to its 1837 appearance on 

the interior and e:icteriorx(Scardavillef 1981). 

~------ STRUCTURAL RES.EARCH 

~ In reviewing the riesearch gathered on the architectural 

and structural nature of the De Mesa-Sanchez house, 

there are several different proposals as to when 

certain f ektures w1ere added and removed. This overview 

attempts to present all of the possibilities, but 

eliminates any tha·:t:. have been disproved with later 
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evidence. The research used includes Restoration of 

the DeMesa-Sanchez House fo1: t.he q, . Augustine 

Preservation Board, completed :r.y Herschel Shepard in 

1977, Historical Outline of the DeMesa-Sanchez Site, by 

Michael Scardaville in 1978 and De Mesa Site, 

Revisited, by James Smith in 1981. The Scardaville 

reference is more theoretica·L and the Smith research is 

supported by archaeological . ?vidence. However, ~ 
~t 

ttell€9d ihat there are~ ~ery important points in 
_,;,t,...;._;,,,.,..~. 

the Scardaville research anc therefore/\ I plan re.e 

ancJudo :i::irl. Since other pa~··:s of this report include 

names of owne:s, ;i; ,~ -;..;:~,eM from this portion/ ,.J___ 
~~4' 

-<'!ft& &ilal. .:t~iere}J ~•:i!t.~ :ehe ,.,tructural data. 

I, First Spanish Period 

,Y. The 1761. Puente Map sh:>ws a small structure on the 
extreme western encl of the property. He describes it 
as a "stone house". 

-,f. The lot was approximat.aly 31. 6 American feet N-S x 
195.2 American feet E-W. (Scardaville, 1978). 

f- Excavations during: A9!80 uncovered three 
architectural featurew;· small single room house, a 
larger, partially emclosed central courtyard, and a 
small, detached rear kitchen of coquina. The house was 
a one-room, 16.7 x 26.5 foot coquina structure built 
some time before 1760. No flooring material was found 
that dated back to this period. A large tabby floored 
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courtyard was found that extended from the rear of the 
house eastward 23.3 x 35.0 feet to the edge of the 
kitchen. A post hole was found somewhere along the 
back wall of the house and this suggests a rear loggia 
with a shed roof. The kitchen had a tabby floor and 
the north-south dimension was a little less than 12 
feet' (Smithx 1981). 

p#t,,,-/ No wooden construction matf·:..~ials were identified 
during archaeological investiga. '._:ions/( Deagan/ 197 8). 

1,., British Period 

J!: The house wa:s expanded to the south creating a 
central hall with two flanking rooms. This symmetrical 
plan is a typical British adaFtation to Spanish 
houses~(Manucy' 1962). 

jil: The front edge of the loi: was expanded 9. 8 
American feet to the south m~:ing the actual frontage 
q.2. 8 American· feet1(Scardavil let 1978). 

~ The E-W dimension of the lot was expanded east to 
236.5 American feetf(Scardavil.le,X 1978). 

,t:_ The house was roofed wit~, shingles and contained a 
tabby floorr( Scardavillef 197 !l). 

t'(;__ A three room stone house on the west boundary of 
the property with a detached kitchen was noted in the 
178q. deed of sale to Sanchez. This refutes the theory 
that there was a partial sec.c;1d story at this 
timet(Chain of Title). The wt.st and south walls of the 
kitchen were demolished and re;"llaced with wood frame 
constructiont(Smithx 1981). 

/. A chimney base was built en Room 103's east wall 
in the exac~ location of the p:r:esent door X (Smith/ 
1981). .· 

?r Second Spanish PetiQ.g 

.,/ The south wall of Room 103 was removed providing 
Ta~ asymmetrical two room plan along the 
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streetX< Scardaviller 197 7). This explains the 
difference in joiners on the door of that wall which 
will be discussed later. 

Y. A new tabby floor was laid throughout the first 
floorr( Deaganf 1978). 

/. A second floor, a one f.;tory wing and loggia to the 
east were added. The detached kitchen was rebuilt. 
These changes are evidenced in the Rocque map of 1788 
which says 1 there was a on8 room second story. It is 
believed that the partial second floor was accomplished 
around 1781,t. and ce>mpleted over the west wing around 
1791 as evidenced in the Book of Mortgages of 1791. 

Y. Sometime before 1803 '1 second floor was completed 
over the east wing and a f ,~w years later the loggia was 
enclosed. An 1803 inventm:-y describes the house as an 
L shaped 2 story structure with a detached masonry 
kitchen. The kitchen was :;hifted eastward by about 11,t. 
feet and was built entirely (1:E coquina to be a larger 
14.2 by 17.8-·feet. The flocr surface was earth. The 
1803 inventory also indicate::, that the south room of 
the east wing was a loggia s11pported by masonry arches 
and also mentions a masonry walled 
stairwayXCScardavilleX 1978). 

/. The frontage of the lot was increased to 47 
feet}(( Scardaville)( 197 8) . 

/:_ These additions were rec ,fed with 
shinglestScardavilleX'1977 i. 

/. The present roof frami 1g over the second floor of 
the west wing was all installed at the same time and 
the framing dates no later than 1830 due to the hand 
wrought nails and spikes. i'he rafters are numbered but 
the numbers are out of sequ~nce indicating that they 
were probably reused.(Scard:ville, 1977). From this 
comes the theory that the o r·iginal one room second 
story was dismantled and re t,uil t to be larger. 

/.' A covered balcony on tte second floor was 
constructed and this may ha~~.e sheltered an exterior 
stair to the new f,econd f lo,::>r. This is evidenced by 
"the remains of jack rafterr; extending from the east 
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rafters to the eas:tt' (Scardaville 1978[!) 

6 There is architectural evidence that the south 
wall of each northern room had a window,,((ScardavilleY 
1977) . /' 

L The second floor roof of the east wing was 
completed after the second floor roof of the west wing. 
The--framing of the, east wing frames into and is 
supported by that of the west wing. 

J/.' The fpllowing conclusions have been drawn: The 
/4~pansion during the Second Spanish period took place 

in two stages. Be,tween 178q.-l 788, a one story east 
wing, a detached kitchen and a partial second floor 
were added. Between 1788-1791, the second floor was 
completed over the west and east wingsx<scardaville.Y 
1977). /' 

American Territorial 

V. A new layer of stucco was applied over the coquina 
fon the exterior. It was scored and painted pink. 

v' The E-W dimension of the property was reduced to 
~59 feet. 

~ Rooms lQq. and 203 and the ea:3tern wing were added 
between 1893-1899.~ 

r Qi"anborn map of 1888 does not show Rooms 10~ and 
/io3;~ 
¥. Ghe Sanborn map of 1893 is identical to the 
present configuration. 

L By 1899, a two story one room addition was added 
/ t~ the east of thE~ kitchen and a one story one room 

addition to the ea.st of that. The present balcony to 
the south of the kitchen was extended around the east 
of the kitchen to attach the addition. 

By 192q., the one room addition to the east of the 
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kitchen was remove:d. 

_/ The south wal~ of Ro~m 103 which had been removed 
• in the Second Spanish Period, was now replaced with two 

wooden frame partitions f (Smith 19 81 ) . 

~------- STRUCTURAL ANALYSIS 

The following is a structural analysis based on 
the recollection of the restoration architect on the 
project, Herschel Shepard. Further evidence was found 
in the reports found in archival records at the 
Preservation Board Office but most reports were 
unavailable for analysis. 

The analysis describes each room, using room numbers 
which correspond to the attached floor plan. (APPENDIX 
A). ) 

. I, FIRST FLOOR -:~ ~ 
The first floor was constructed in phases and over at 
least a century. Porches were built and then enclosed. 
Additions r1ere added in almost all directions. 

Room 103 

This room is the original one room·one story building 
built by De Mesa i.n the early to middle 18th century. 

~!!re is evidence that the floor in this room was wood 
during the territorial period and therefore, the 
present floor is wood reconstructed at the time of the 
restoration of the: property in the 1970' s. It was 
reconstructed from archaeological evidence and there is 
a tabby floor beneiath. 

" " (,11-,,1,, Blind ·we!!"e used in the reconstruction so that no 
one could misinterpret the f~oor and basepoa~s~ ~~e,,C;,.,_ 
being original; ,.o.;.._e,..t.- A ~,._,,~ dM.. e.-c.,,4f.,<.u<.. J 

The window in the room is in its original position and 
the door leading to Room 106 was probably a window 
before the construction of the east addition. The 
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jambs of the opening are spl,~yet':fJ~hich is a colonial 
trait. \...../ 

The finishes were removed from the walls and were 
replaced with plaster and veneer plaster to represent 
the original plaster finish. 

All door frames, aL few doors, cornice trim, ceiling 
planks, most windows, window sills, surrounds, and 
returns were present at the time of restoration. 

Exterior walls in this room are coquina. 

All walls except the south wall are colonial with the 
interior and exterior being plastered. 

Ceiling planks are,/\~ial due to the rough sawn 
finish. 

The graining applied to the door to Room 102 was added 
after the restoration. 

The door frame lea.ding to Room 102 is not mortise and' 
tenon and therefore, it ~ probably ro~laoee. !!Offle~i~e-- llL 

fa- V la Ler . ~ ~ ~~e-r.- • . I ~. 
The trim around the window is a very simple style of 
Georgian or Greek Revival and is not from the original 
building of the one room structure. ' 

Room 102 

The foyer is part of the first expansion which took 
place between 1763: and 1783. This expansion included 
Rooms 102,101,106 and 108. James Stout was the owner 
at the time of the: additions to the house. 

Door hinges are not original. 

Ceiling planks arei the same as Room 103. 

Trim is similar to, the trim in Room 103. 

Molding on the front door was present at time of 
restoration. 
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The wall connecting Room 101 is m,::.;5onry construction,( ~ 
~ .,«., o.,...:~ ~ ~~ ~. 

The ~all connecting Room 10. if' wood frame. 
~~~ 

The floor is a reconstructior of the~ floor. 

Room 101 

This room is also part of . ___ tie first expansion performed 
by Stout. 

The floor covering is a re:onstruction of American 
Territorial covering evide :.;ced in archaeological 
reports. . 

~ ,.,,,.u 
The heads of nails in the ; :.1.ce-:aair)( floor read through 
the floor covering indicat: .:.1g that the wood floor 
beneath is original and wa~ not replaced during 
restoration .. The width of t.he floor planks suggest 
that they are territorial. 

~~t;;,. J ~~ 
~e installed in the ~loor at the time of 

restoration. 

All wooden surf aces show ev .. -lence of hand planing. 

The frames on the doors are nortise and tenon and show 
hand planed marks. 

Part of the floor near the .'. earth had to be patched for 
structural reasons at resto1ation. 

Part of the plaster on the nouth wall is original and 
is applied directly to the · ~oquina. 

The brick was replaced in ·;he fireplace sometime after 
original construction -and -i smoke shelf was built. The 
smoke shelf is a mid-19th c:entury feature. The brick 
at the front of the f irepLtce could be original due to 
its differing appearance f1 • )m the interior brick. 
Portland cement mortar is l .sed and this did not come 
into use until after 1890. 

The fireplace frontispiece could possibly be from the 
late 18th century but there is no clear evidence es ,ee,, ;._,l~~j 
~x-.&1:t;l:y when it was constructed. At any rate, it was 
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present at time of restoration. In order to replace 
brick in a fireplace, the frontispiece must be removed 
so the mantel could have been replaced or just 
reinstalled. 

The baseboards are the same as Room 103. 

The door to Room 10~ has splayed jambs as in Room 103. 
This opening could have been a window originally. The 
wood frame is hand planed. 

The window trim is the same as Room 103. 

Room 10,. 

This addition took place after the Stout additions but 
it is possible that this was~a covered porch or outdoor 
area of some sort. 

During restoration, all of the joists, battens and 
roofing were Feplaced. 

The roof that was replaced could not predate the 
addition of the second floor, because the rafters are 
supported by the siecond floor wall well above the eave 
height of a one-story building. 

Room 105 

When first constructed, this area may have been an 
exterior patio with an exterior st.air. 

The saw marks in the structural members demonstrate 
that they are original, not reconstructions. 

The floorboards above the structural members have been 
replaced. 

The staircase materials have not been replaced since 
the staircas~ was constructed. 

Room 106 

This room was added by Sanchez in his first expansion. 

A window in the south wall opens into the staircase, 
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indicating that the stair was built after this 
addition. The shutters on the interior of that window 
indicate that when the stair was ouilt it was left open 
at the window to provide ventila·t--.ion through the 
window. However, this is arguable because the lath 

'}i,o''> 1 behind _the plaster in the stair is sawn wooden lath not 
I~ - ~---a:vai.1.aole before),~, and the stair was built before 

that. The shutters on the wind, 1ws use hand wrought 
nails which were used before the 1820's. 

The ceiling planks are the same as those used in Room 
103. 

The molding is the same as that used in the other 
rooms, as well. 

The room was probably formed to be synmetrical around 
the door leading to Room 103. 

The door leading to Room 107 was 1=r.1bably a later 
addition because a. door would not r.ormally be placed at 
the end of a-·wall in that fashion .. 

Room 107 

The floor planks above the room wr::re replaced at 
restoration. 

Room 108 

The ceiling planks and the moldin,J on the ceiling are 
the same as Room 103. 

The window is at a. different heit.: it from the window in 
Room 106. 

There is no trim on the window. 

It is theorized that this room w2.s part of the Stout 
addition due to its similarity to the other rooms of 
Stout's expansion. 

Room 110 

This kitchen was not the original kitchen. The 
original was constructed away from the main body of the 
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house with an earth floor. This kitchen has a tabby 
floor and is attached to the house. It was originally 
thought that the house was expanded to reach the 
kitchen, but it is now known that the kitchen was 
simply reconstructed. The kitchen was constructed by 
Lisk. 

The door to Room 108 uses cut nails which is a 19th 
century feature. 

\A pintel hinge is used on the door to Room 108 and th~ 
\_!:inge was not used until after 1830. 

'J.., SECOND FLOOR -----------
The second floor wats constructed in phases similar to 
the first floor. It is theorized that Sanchez 
constructed one room at first and then continued with 
the rest of the second floor. 

Room 201 

This room was built in phases by Sanchez. The 
configuration of the room as it appears today was 
constructed by Sanchez near the turn of the 19th 
century. 

The ceiling is the "tea tray stylf~" ceiling first 
introduced by the EnglishX'(ManucyX 1962). Handwrought 
nails are used in the ceiling. 

The trim is similar to that found on the first floor 
but it is stained as opposed to painted white. There 
is a little more dE~tailing on the top of the trim. 

Due to this,'evidenc:::e, it is believed that Sanchez added 
the trim downstairs. 

The windows are 12 over 8 and appear to be the original 
sash. 

The frontispiece .is more ornate than downstairs, but 
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this is consistent with most of the features on the 
second floor and does not rule out the possibility that 
Sanchez installed all of them. 

The baseboards are the same as those found on the first 
floor. 

The floor boards ar,e wide and are the floorboards found 
at the tim~ of restoration. 

The floorboards run straight and unspliced under the 
partition dividing Rooms 201 and 202; this indicates 
that the partition may have been added later. 

When the addition was constructed, a partition may have 
run east to west in this room just north of the outside 
door. At this point, there is a continuous east-west 
butt joint that is visible in the floorboards, and the 
floor begins a definite slope down to the south in this 
area. Traces of a partition are also visible in the 
wall plaster. However, traces of a partition are not 
visible in tne ceiling, indicating the ceiling is 
probably a later Sanchez addition. 

Room 202 

This room was the original Sanchez addition. However, 
it originally extended to the previously mentioned 
partition. 

The ceiling is "tea tray", probably added by Sanchez. 

Room 20,. 

This was originally an outdoor loggia which was 
enclosed by James Lisk. 

The door leading to Room 205 is an outside type door 
indicating that it was installed before the porch was 
enclosed. 

Room 205 

This room was added by Sanchez. 

There is a "tea tray" ceiling like those in Rooms 201 
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and 202. 

There is a window to the north, which is a feature not 
found in rooms to the west. 

Room 210 

This room was const:i:-ucted over the kitchen by Lisk. 

Room 209 

This porch was prob;3.bly rebuilt by Lisk. If the porch 
had been built at an earlier time, the floor planks 
would have been perpendicular to the house wall. The 
framing of the porch is original American Territorial 
and the floor board:s were replaced at restoration. 

~ RESTORATION OF THE DE MESA-SANCHEZ HOUSE 

~~~ 
~ agreeS with the original reasons for restoring 

the house to its 1837 appearance due to the fact that 

as much of the existing fabric as·possible was saved. 

However, cd 11iiiTTII •~ the various transformations of 

the house over the centuries should be the focus for a 

new restoration eff,ort. -i t bi ok tl rt the layers of the 

house's history should be explored and celebrated and 

~ the house should be exhibited in this manner. The 
i 

De Mesa-Sanchez House has something unique to offer St. 

Augustine in that it surviv~_d through the major periods 

in the city's history. The house should be an 
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educational device for investigating these periods. 

Whether or not to employ furniture is another 

question. jr:r iis•l ■hl!!Pe.Some furniture could be utilized 

in a , very didactic way. However, CL ji s t. I l iiNR the 
tlO,#-

house should/'be fully furnished. The concentration 

should be on the structural and finishing elements 

employed in the house. St. Augustine is very lucky to 

have such a fine example of architectural evolution and 

the city should utilize this house to its fullest 
I 

potential. 
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CAP5 

IRTt:RPRETIVE DE:VELOPIIEIIT P:ROPOSAL !'OR 

TH[ DE m:sA-SAJICBEZ HOUSE 

(~~~~ l~-t~kc-1,o~ 
The De 11esa-Sanchez House. built in the mid-eighteenth 

century, rem.a ins today as part of a select group of buildings 
I 

which were con3tructed in St. Augustine during the First 

Spanish occupation (Scard.aville 1981). The history and 

architectural development of the house provide a visual 

docUlllent which relates the building· s physical growth and 

expansion to the history of the oldest continuously occupied 

Eu.ropes.n set.tlelllent in the United St.ates. 

Restoration of the Di:! Hesa-Sanchez House to its current 
-

appearance began in 1977 with the transfer of the house and 

property from. the St. Augustine Restoration Four.u1ation to the 

Historic St. Augustine Preservation Board ( Sca-rdaville 1977). 

After years of archi tectu.ral, archaeological and historical 

research, the house was restored to its 1837 cont i1Juration. 

This allowed for the buildling to retair1 :ra.ucb of its origir.aal 

and historic fabric and avoided extensive demolition and 

removal of portions of the structure (Fisher and Shepard 1977; 

HS.APB i978a, i978b). 

Research revealed a complex architectural evolution of 

the building which began during the First Spanish Period and 

resulted in much of the buildi@urrent configuration during 
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the >.merican Territorial Period (see Appendix A: History and 

Architectural Development). Restoration to the 1~ 

the buildi~ configuration allowed for interpretation of 

elements through the Territorial Period and remained vi thin 

the guidelines and directiYes of the Preservation Board's 

llaster Plan (HSAPB 1978a). 

Currently, the De l1esa-Sanchez House is interpreted as a 

furnished "house· IilUSeiJiiL" i.n San Agustin Antiguo ar.id recreates 

the domestic lite and an historic interior of St. Augustine's 

Territoria.l Period (Cla.rk 1983). The interpretation 
I 

emphasizes this re-creation and fails to take into account the 

evolutionary develop:w.e.nt of the structure as part of tl"!e 

historical context of St. Augustine. Concerns hav~ been 

expressed regarding the 1:ocus of the interpretation on the 

interior furnishings of the house (Fullham et al. 1993; HS.APB 

1988, 1989; Spikes 1993a, 1993b) As a result, several char.iqes 

in the interpretive program. of the house and its site have 

been proposed a.nd the Boa.rd is currently a.ddressi~~e 

interpretive development of the De llesa-Sanchez Hous&B 

1993). 

CAP5 
Current Interpretive Proqraa 

After leaving the living history interpretive area of the 

Stianish QuarteQ visitor:s enter the De Hesa-Sanchez yard 

through a gate located to the rear of the structure .. T'nis 
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represents a one-hundred--year transition between the living 

history interpretive area. of the Spanish Quarter and the De 

Hesa-Sanchez site and structure 

there is no interpretation of the 

(HSAPB 1989) . 

1\- M--- c--"""""'--" 
I.I c; UC .:>O. - .JO.UI...UC '-

of the house are conducted every thirty ainutes. 

Currently, 

Visitors 

wait outside the building and to the south of the De l1esa-

5anchez k1 tchen. 

The tour begins in the kitchen arJd visitors are guided 

through the rooms on the first floor and, subsequently, the 

second floor. Interpretation of the house recreates the daily 

11! e ot a Dl1dc1le-class f alllily relocated to St. Auaustine in 

the 1830' s, during the i1'la.erican Territorial Period (Stewart 

1982}. Interpretation olc the house includes facts reg~rding 

the Loring Fam.ily who leased and occupied the house between 

1837 and 1841 (Scardaviiie 1977). 

Since there were no extant wills or inventories which 

related directly to the Loring occupation of the house, the 

interior re-creation was based on the prevailing styles and 

tastes in St. Augustine during the Aaerican Territorial 

Period. Tue majority of the furnishings are authentic period 

antiques which reflect a combination of late eighteenth and 

early nineteenth century ·pieces and elllphasize the 1820's and 

1830' s (Harper 1979). 'I'he f urnishinas of the house provide 

the basis for the interpretation of herican Territorial 
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domestic life. The tours, which are appro:z:ill8tely fifteen 

minutes in length, focus on the furnishinqs of the house, 

rather than on the architectural development of the structure 

in relation to the history of St. Augustine (Jells 1993). 

The guided tours conclude on the second tloor landing 
! 

just outside the child· s bed chamber. 
i 

Visitors are then 

directed into an exhibit area. The exhibit area, located in 

the eastern end of the second floor, contains panels and case 

exhibits which pre~;ent the structural develop•ent of the house 

in relation to the different owners and occupants and to the 

history of St. Augustine between 1763 and 1845 {Stewart 1981). 

Visitors exit the house through a door located at the 

·southeast corner of the structure and descend 1an exterior 

stair. Follm1ing an EXIT sign, visitors then pass through a tu-~~ 

qa te and enter the Peso De Buro-o-Pellicer House, a [1770, s 

structure which is currently used as the liuseum. Store (HS.APB 

1993). 

Sanchez House, several problems are evident and can be 

summarized as follows: 

1) a one hundred year transition between the living history 

interpretive area of the :Spanish Quarter and the .Am.ef.f f~'f} ~ , f::. ,,...,::f-
• ~'.t' U· ~7-- j 

TP.rri t.nri R l i nt.P.rprP.t.R t. inn nf t.hP. nP. 11P.!=tA-SRnr:hP.::>: HmJ!'t~ 
/1 . 
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2) the current interpretive program. does not maximize the 

interpretive use of the De l1esa-Sanchez yar~ 

3) the sequence in which the roo:ms are presented does not 

correspond to the structure's evulution{i) 

4) the guided tours focus on the f urnishinqs of the house 

and fail to relate thie evcd t1tionary development of the 

structure to the history of St. ; ._ugustin4) 

5) the location of the exhib).:. area on the secorJd floor arJd 

interpretation of the second, f ·_oor does not comply lrith ADA 

(.Am.ericans with Disabili tJLes Act ) quidelines ·, ~ 
~.,.:a., 

6) A a seventy year tran1sitic r, between the interpretation of 

the De Hesa-Sanchez HousE! anf': the interpretation of the Peso 

De Burgo-Pellicer House 

CAPS 
Reco-enda tions and P:n:;pasc~ l 

'!'he hi~torical signjlf ice. :.:·::e of the De !!e~-Senchez House 

provides an invaluable resou: ::e for relatina ·~chanaes in the 

configuration of the hou~~e a :1i in St. Augustine as the house 

evolved during the First Sp 3 nish Period, the British Period, 

the Second Spanish Peri•;d and the Territorial Period. 

Interpretation as an .AJD.eJ ican Territorial "house auseum." 

eliminates the expression ol other periods and fails to relate 

the evolution of the builcii n~r to the history of St. Augustine. 

As an historical f';c:·.lillent, the De l1esa-Sanchez House 

provides a visual link to t.h, history of St. Augustine's past 

and, m.ore specif icall ·v .. to the Spanish Quarter. Criteria 
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established in the current Property Hana.ge11.ent Plan recoJllllend 

the use of the De l1esa-Sanct.1ez House to interpret Spanish St. 

Augustine as part of the Spanish Quarter {HS.A.PB 1993). 

This proposal advoca.tes an "e:m.pty house" interpretive 

policy t:hat allows for the interpretation of the De liesa-
• I 

Sanchez House through the building's history ar..d architecture 

rather than through the furnishings of any one period (George 

1984; Task Force on Drayton Hall 1983). Jan "e:m.pty house" 

interpretive policy affords the use of several form.s of 

interpretation which could be developed as followsj. 

I. Guided Tour Pre sen ta tions 

Dev-elop:m.ent of guided tour:: which begin in the "original" room. 

built by De 11esa and proceed on a room. by room. basis according 

to the sequence of construct ion: <--· ·-----·-···-··•· ~----·- ____ .. 
··-------- ... 

-➔ First Spanish Period (1750--1763) 

Construction of "original" one story, one room "stone house" 

with a detached kitchen. 

-----"? British Period ( 1763-1784) 

-➔ 

Expansion of structure to the south creating a three room 

house with a detached ki tclh:[1. 

Second Spanish Period (1 ?B~L-1821) 

Addition of the second floor. one story east wiro and loqq--ia. 

Alllerican Terri to rial ( 1821-·L ·37) 
,;,i_...,., __ .. ,. __ .,....,;: ----h . ..,._ .-..-,4 -iv'l.~.-.,-.rv_ ...... -- -~ 1.r-i f. ..... 1-.. ..... ..,... "t-f.- 1-.,_,.,. __ 
.&:..UI...J..V.:>1,U. C Vi. JJVi. l....UC.:> airu J..Ul-C''::I i.a l-J..V.U Vi. hJ.. l-1.,.UCU .U.ll-V uuu.:,c;. -- •• 

~rdaville 1977, 1978) _r-------------
·------- --· .. . ..•• --· 

/ 

\ 
I 
l 

) 

228



~ 'l, Exhibits 

Placement of exhibit panels and case exhibits in the "kitchen··, 

which present an orientation to visitors. 

Dev-elopment of a video presentation which prov'ides an 

alternative interpretation of the second floor to those unable 

to walk up the stairs. °(l,~ 1"'1-"Jr,,,;L,.1:;,,__ ~ .••• ,~ ±IJ AOA ~,~ j-n--
,4.,tc..n.,fL ,~ -"'lCG,e,~-4 /y r1,,,, ..... .c . .,,? ""''" .11...~t..Jk ~-
Redeve!op.ment of $'1.itle/vid~o presentation which documents the 

archaeological research and the restoration. 

~ 3. Outdoor Signage and Inteirpretive Displays 

De'"lelop:m.ent of outdoor sign.age and interpreti•;e displays 

>X'' delineate and interp1:et the historical background and 

former landscaping practices in St. Augustine (see Robert 

Stewart's Proposed Landscape Plan for the De 11esa-Sanchez 

Site). 

).)'.' relate the site to th,e historical context of the Spanish 

Quarter. 

CAP5 Conclusion 

A~ an architectural and cultural artifact, the De Hesa­

Sanchez House provides an invaluable resource for relating the 

evolution of the structure to the continuous historical 

context of St. Augustine. The impiem.entation of an ····em.pty 

hou:,e" interpretive policy promotes the histofical 

significance of the house and allows for the expression of 

cultural values through architectural features of the house. 
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This expression allows for the interpretation of the house as 

it evolved during the F'irst Spanish Period, the British 

Period, the Second Spanish Perioc':i and the Territorial Period 

arid promotes the sig11if icalnce of St. .At1yustine as the oldest 

continuously occupied European settlement in the United 

States. 

230



Works Cited 

Clark, Susan 

1983 'llle llu.seUJJJ o.t S6u1 A17u.stiz1 k1tiguo: A Guide for Neri1 

• , .,. /' ,,. ,I 7 i2 .. 7 t1 6tv ~./.~l ~" /: l ..... ( I(', ., :, l'I r •'/, 
C. 

Fisher and Shepard 

1977 ReseBrc-11 Report.· Re.storBtion of tile J)e lle.sa-58.ncllez 
. 7 

/' ,',/ ,_;;/._ /-/$/)//!,, 
l-#'r·) ,.., /' le ,. House for tl1e 3t .. 4.UI!'lS-tiri·e Preservation Botud. 

I I' 

Fulll1a:m~ Ross~ Herschel Sl1ej~ard arid Tracy Spikes 

1993 Persol1el D..r!!l!!u.n.i:'ce. t,1011 Septe:m.ber 17. 

George. Gerald 

1984 The Great Dra i t.on Hall Debate. Hi.story Nen1.s 

January: 7-12. 

Harper, Robert 

1979 Interpretir,•e .lt:, "lli.slliog Propo.581 tor tile Pe lle.58-
~ ·( j.l · .,...., 1/<'1J1'1.} -, 

.58ncllez House. ;~ .. ,,u t·•·•· ,,,. ·"·1,lc v--·I,.., r J , 

' (J • 

Historic St. Augustine Pres Hvation Board (HSAPB) 

19?8a !feJJtore.lldUl! dater August 22. 

1978b lleeting Notes d :tted Auqust 28. 

1988 lleiorazxiUJt date:' July 19. 

1989 llezorendUJJJ ,jatec July 10. 

1993 Historic St .. k:uus-.til'1e Presen"B.tion BoBrd Property 

llBMqeJtent Pltilt .. 

Scardaville, Hicha.el C. 

1977 PreliJJliJ?..ar.v . .-/t.p.:n·.t Dl'l the Pe 

111it.h ChBin o:" 't'itl&· Appended. 

lle.sa-Sa.1."lC.1.?eZ 

o1... /-/4 ,., .. 1:1X. 

1978 Histoi·iD:t.Z 1)utl.iz1e [if tlle Pe lleSB-5'8:.1.icllez .Site 

231



1981 Historr of the .[1e lleSB-Ssncher House. Woodmen of 

the World Presentation: 2 .118.y. 

Spikes, Tracy 

1993a Personsl CoM!lui-1ica tion September 21. 

1993b PersoMl Co1atlmicstion October 12. 

Stewart, Robert C. 

1981 (,?utli.~e ot 'l1leJJ:es .. In.tor/88 tion and 

ll!!ttei·ials tor the Pe lleSB-Sancliez House. 

1982 Pe llese-5Bl'1Cliez House: An .4/Jbrevieted L';z.1ided Tour. 

Task Force on Drayton Hall 

1983 Repl1i-t a11d R.ecoNJtendations 011 Pra·xton Ji811. 

National Trust for Historic Preservation. 

W~lls, llike 

1993 Pei-s-oml I1iterr,•ier.r 12 October. 

232



Ap11endi! .! 
History and Arcni~ectural uevelopaent 

(.frono- 5<:o.,·dc;v:t/-e. M,··1, l''li8 ; ) 

233



HISTORY A.ND ARCHITECTURAL DEVELOPDEHT 

0¥HER 

Al·ITONIO DE llESA 

WILLIAtl WALTON 

BRITISH CROWN 

JOSEPH STOUT 

DON JUAN SAl'1CHEZ 

SANCHEZ F Al1IL Y 

LEWIS l1ELIZET 

JAI1ES LISK 

SETH GIFFORD 

JOI-il-1 BEDELL 

PERIOD 

1750-1763 

1764:-1768 

1768-1771 

1771-1784: 

17El4:-1802 

1803-1832 

1832-1835 

1835-1837 

1837-1844 

1844 

COHl'IGURATIOH 

ONE STORY.. ONE ROot! 
RECTANGLE. 

ADD ITIOU OF SE,;lERA.L ROOUS 
ALONG THE STREET. ., 

ADDITION OF EAST WING AND 
SECOND FLOOR OVER ENTIRE 
STRUCTURE. CONSTRUCTION OF 
DETACHED ONE S'I"JRY KI'K.HEN. 

HUCH OF CURRENT APPE:.ARANCE 
BY 1803. 

USES/HOTlS 

RESIDENCE 

RESIDENCE 

RESIDENCE 

RESIDENCE 

RESIDENCE 

RESIDENCE 

ENCLOSURE OF SEVERAL PORCHES RESIDENCE 
.AND INTEGRATION OF KI'K.HEN 

; INTO HOUSE. APPLICATION OF 
SCORED PAINTED -STUCCO TO 
E~"I'ERIO:R. 

RESIDENCE 
LEASED TO 
CHARLES LORING 
FF:OJ:f 1837 'ro 
Hl41 

l10R'IGAGE FORE­
CLOSURE, 
PURCHASED AT 
AUCTION 
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. OWNER 

ANN HULBERT 

DARIUS AND 
HAPY ALLEN 

l1APY STP. I scm:A 

LOUIS PACE'ITI 

ELIZABETH WALLACE 

SUS.AN lfEYER S 

B. C . HAXWELL 

SALL IE ST_TLZl-rEF'. 

PERIOD 

1844-1851 

1851-1867 

1:367-1874 

1874-1885 

1885 

1885-1886 

1886-1892 

1892-1905 

CONYIGURA.TIOH 

AI:iD ITION OF WOOD AND GLA:5 S 
~3TORE F~'.O}fl' ON FH'.ST FLOOR 
WEST FACADE. 

ADD ITION3 OF TWO STORY.. ONE 
POO!'l TO THE EAST OF 'THE 
KI'I'::HEN .AND ONE STOPY .. ONE 
HOOlt 'n) EAST OF THAT .. AND 
SINGLE POO:t[ EAST OF SOU'T'H END 
OF WE ST WING. REPLACEtIENT OF 
WOODEN STIJF.'EFP.ONT WITH 
11ASONPY ARCHES. 

USES/HOTES 

PESIDENCE 

PESIDENCE 

BOARDING HOUSE: 
:3T. ,JOimS ROUSE 
r::1s67-1E:69) 
CANOVA HOUSE 
( 1:369-lf:70 •• S) 

:3HOP 
i: 1e:34-1Eiec:-:, 
:3HOOTING G·ALLEPY 
( H:84-1E:8E:) 

BARBER Alm CIG.~.F: 
SHOP 
SHOOTING G.ALLEPY 

BAP.BEJ? Alm CIGAP 

SHOOTING G.ALLEPY 

BAPBEF'. Alm CIG-.AJ~ 
SHOP 
SHOOTING G.ALLERT 

l!US IC SHOE' (LOT ) 
(1f393) 
BICYCLE SHOP (LOT) 
(1899') 
l!US IC. SHOP 
,:· 1899) 

1::UR IO. SHOP 
(1904-1910) 235



ODER PERIOD 

l'IARY STROBRIDGE 1905-1911 

LAWERENCE WISCHERT 1911-1912 

l'IARGARET BUTLER 

THOl1AS AND DOFI IS 
WILES 

1912-1949 

1949-1952 

l1A.RGTJERITA PHILLIPS 1952-1963 

GERALD BATH 

ST. AUGUSTINE 
RESTORATION.. INC. 

1963-1965 

1965-1977 

COHFIGURATIOH 

PE:t[OVAL OF OF EAST, ONE ROOl1 
ADDITION Al-ID WEST BALCOWf. 
ADDITION OF STUCCO .AF~CHES 
AT SOUTH BALCONY Al-ID CONCRETE 
STAIR AT EAST END OF BUILDING. 

REHOVAL OF ARCHED 
STORE FRONT. BALCONY 
RECONSTRUCTED. 

HISTORIC 
ST. AUGUSTINE . 
PRE SEP.VATION ' 
BOARD 

1977-PRESEN'T' RESTORATION TO 1830' S 
CONFIGURATION 

(SCARDAVILLE l977, 1978, 1981} 

USES/NOTES 

CTJIHO SHOP 

llUSEtnl 
(19:34-1937) 
PESTAURANT 
(1940) 
ANTIQUE SHOP 
(1945-1954) 
NEWSPAl?ER OFFICE 
(1949) 

ANTIQUE SHOP 
NEWSPAPER OFFICE 

ANTIQUE SHOP 
:trUSEUH 
(1969-1960) 
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A.]~pendix B 
:nee!ting Hotes 

237



. .. 

Friday Sept.ember 17, 1993 
De l1esa-Sanchez House 

Notes of meeting with Fullham.,Shepard alld Spikes: 

-Drayton Hall (Blue :Ribbon report) as example- furnishings? 
-upstairs pa.rlor colonial furnishings 
-address cultural significance of furnishings 
-Bob Steinbach and St.a.nley Bond-report containing basic 
architectural challges 
-originally a one room structure, walls JIB.Y date from 1704, 
tabby construction 
-expansion during British period 
-second story completed by end of British period 
-originally a freestanding kitchen which was later enlarged 
and incorporated into structure 
-1830 interpretation (Loring family) 
-!loors date rrom. .American territorial 
-speak with interpreters (Sally Bergman) 

what audience 
general visit.or 
what questions asked 
traffic count 

-St. Augustine not a desti.nation as com.pared with 
Williamsburg 
-address prol:,lem of bQt tleneck at top of stairs 
-t.ea tray ceiling (west wing, second floor) 

. -incorporation of static exhibits 
-rese.arch guidelines as sources for· duplication·-
-t,alcon~7 originally ran length of building 
-literature review of other examples 
-how people used rooms 

information on people who lived there 
-late i950's comm.issioned. 
-historic site report (Sm~an Parker) 
-address structural changes alld history of occupants 
-Process 

1. 
2. 

(context) 

HSR (archaeology a1ld history) 
Summarize intent of general area interpretively 

3. Address structural and family changes 
-orct.18.rd arnl possible Natl ve .American burial growld behilld 
house 
-ratio House= example or graining 
-restored as J.m.erican Ter1ritorial 
-bring history of interpretat.ion into plan 
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Tue;:;,day September 21, 1993 
De l1esa-Sanchez House 

Notes of meeting with Tracy Spikes: 

-sources of information: 
site files/flat files 
plats 
audio exhibit (based on Stan's research) 

-obtain plans from. research 
-a.rchi tec:t.ural bibliography lE rom Herschel 
-listing of deed transfers through Susan 
-e.ddress use of surrounding yard and structure 
-Flagler f omldation (Center for Historic Research)- Eugene 
Lyon 
-comparison of other colonial (territorial) structures 
-field drawings (Bostwick 1977) 
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, ( \ \ 

Tuesday October 12, 1993 

Notes of meeting -with l1il-:e Wells and Tracy Spikes: 

-interpret.a tion through pro~Jression of time line to understani:1 
expansion of structure 
-address lifestyles and furniture through present 
appearance=herican Territoirial with concentration on 1839i40 
-dominant questions address furnishings of house 
-late 1830's/40's furniture style carried on to victorian 
t.im.es 
-11ar11yn=sen1or interpreter (Saturdays and Sundays) 
-tour previously structured as ·-·-01d Spanish Inn" 
-video presentation of remodelli11g work (Stan) 
-slide presentation of int.e:rest to preservationists 
-"liv-ing history museum" 
-mission to educate and infior:m. 
-!urn1sh1ngs based on sources of time period and southern 
culture 
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